
Legal & Governance Reform
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
HeadHead  ofof  LegalLegal  andand  GovernanceGovernance  ReformReform

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Rochdale Township 
Planning Sub Committee

Enquiries to:     Shahada Shahid
Email:               shahada.shahid@rochdale.gov.uk  
Telephone: 01706 924713
Date: Monday, 30th November 2015

Dear Councillor

Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Tuesday, 8th December 2015 
commencing at 6.15 pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. Details of the viewing 
agenda are as follows: 

1.50pm Meet rear entrance Number 1 Riverside
2.10pm Land adjacent to 90 Durham Street
2.40pm Bamford Hall, Bury and Rochdale Od Road
3.00pm 9 Rossmere Avenue, Rochdale
3.30pm Land at Woodlea Chase / Stock Close

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Head of Legal and Governance Reform

Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee Membership 2015/16
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed
Councillor Shakil Ahmed (Vice Chair)
Councillor Lynne Brosnan (Chair)
Councillor Ian Duckworth
Councillor James Gartside
Councillor Terry Linden
Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Billy Sheerin
Councillor Shah Wazir

mailto:shahada.shahid@rochdale.gov.uk


Rochdale Borough Council

ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 8th December 2015 at 6.15 pm

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Submitted Planning Applications 4 - 82

3.  Submitted Planning Appeals 

i) Notification that the following appeals have been lodged

 None

ii)  Notification that the following appeals have been dismissed

 None

ii) Notification that the following appeals have been allowed

 15/00761/HOUS – 16 Craiglands, Rochdale - Proposed two 
storey side extension (resubmission 15/00461/HOUS) – 
Delegated Decision (Balderstone and Kirkholt Ward





DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.



Subject: Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication

Report to:  Rochdale Township Planning 
Committee

Date:         8 December 2015 ^DS,DATEACTCOM.DCAPPL,21;   

Report of: Director of Economy and 
Environment

Author: See individual agenda reports

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 
related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 
and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Scheme of Delegation.

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 
matters which may affect the work of the Committee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 
detailed in the following papers.

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism Act 2011 and 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and Regulations which 
support that legislation.  

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 
report.

ITEM NO.



    The Development Plan

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 
against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the 
Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) 
and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted by the 
Council.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 
requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 
material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and any 
other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report.

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 
dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 
full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 
relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 
ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 
process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 
and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.  

4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 
commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 
Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any item 
on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.  

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 
of Conduct.   

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 
applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 
plan and other material planning considerations.

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 
certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These 
protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 
Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 
Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer.

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 
effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 
including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 
material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, the 



Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded all opportunities to 
promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or where 
adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the 
planning merits of the development proposal.  

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on 
relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be 
included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in 
designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 
applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 
matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports.

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

6.1   The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 
the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 
third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 
have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full 
consideration to their comments.

6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 
home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 
considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 
Development Plan, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 
that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 
land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 
interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 
public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 
proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 
approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the 
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts.



Background Papers

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 
this agenda will include:-

1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include:

i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 
scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates.

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 
been consulted or commented on the planning application

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties.
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 

and of relevance to the submitted proposal
 

2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 
application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal

3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 
on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting).

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 
relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents

For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning


Application Number: 15/00521/FUL    Ward: Milkstone And Deeplish      

Proposal: Erection of a two storey building comprising of 2 retail units at ground floor 
and offices at first floor

Site Address: Land To Side Of 90 Durham Street Rochdale OL11 1JZ  

Applicant: Mr M. Ahmed
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION

This application has attracted a petition against the application with 18 signatures. The 
application therefore falls to be determined by the Rochdale Township Planning Sub-
Committee. 

SITE

The application site is located at the end of a row of properties and currently comprises an 
informal car park associated with No. 90 Durham Street. The properties to the opposite end of 
the row are in residential use with a general retail store and the applicant’s business premises 



(no. 90 Durham Street) separating them from the application site. The Neeli Mosque and 
Islamic Centre is located to the west. 

The streets to the south and west are predominantly residential in character. However, the 
land uses to the north and north east close to Oldham Road are primarily commercial and 
industrial. 

To the rear of the site is a terrace of residential properties on Exeter Street, beyond which are 
the playing fields of Deeplish Primary School. Directly opposite the site is a cleared area of 
land.

PROPOSAL

The proposal is for the erection of a two storey building comprising 2 retail units at the ground 
floor and offices at the first floor.  

The site measures some 195sqm with the site being some 15.2m wide and 10m deep.  The 
proposed building would front Durham Street and it would attach to no. 90 Durham Street.  
Each retail unit would be identical with the front elevation containing the shop front on the 
ground floor with two windows on the first floor.  The rear elevation contains two separate 
doors which provide access to the first floor offices.  Internally the shops would measure some 
6m by 10m while on the first floor each office would contain two usable rooms as well as a 
small kitchen and a toilet.  

Adjoining the gable elevation of the building would be a driveway and extending from it would 
a passageway which provides access to the first floor offices.   

The proposed opening hours are not specified.  

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

Policy G/D/1 (Defined Urban Area)



G/S/1 Hierarchy and Role of Centres

S/7 Local Shops and Service 

G/A/1 Accessibility

A/2 New Development - Accessibility Hierarchy 

A/3 New Development - Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People

A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists

A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles

A/9 New Development - Access for General Traffic 

A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking

A/11 New Development - Transport Assessments

G/BE/1 Design Quality

BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development 

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control

EM/3 Noise and New Development 

EM/4 Contaminated Land

EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation

EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

1994/D31523 – Change of use to industrial with retail shop and showroom on ground floor and 
formation of car park to side.  Approved 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering –Raise no objection to the proposal.  

Environmental Health (Noise) - No comment 

Environmental Health (Contamination) - No objections but request a condition be imposed 
which requires site investigation and assessment.

United Utilities - Recommend conditions be attached to the planning consent requiring details 
of a scheme for the disposal of surface and foul waters.

REPRESENTATIONS

The neighbouring properties have been notified and a petition has been submitted objecting to 
the proposal. The petition contains 18 signatures but does not raise any material planning 



issues, simply stating that the undersigned ‘do not deem it necessary for the Council to grant a 
planning application for land to the side of 90 Durham Street’.

ANALYSIS

This section of the report includes the analysis of the merits of the application against the 
relevant polices of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) together with other relevant material planning 
considerations.

Policy S/7 Local shops and Services

Policy S/7 permits local shops and services which serve the local needs outside the existing 
centres provided that:

a) It is in a location not currently reasonably served by an existing centre or local 
shop

b) There are no suitable vacant units in the vicinity
c) It will be suitably located in terms of access by foot; and
d) It will not affect the amenity of nearby residents

With regards to the criteria a), the policy seeks that any development or change of use to, 
shops or other services should be in a location that is not already being served by an existing 
centre or shop.  This is to ensure existing shopping facilities are protected.  Where it is not 
located within a Local Centre, consideration should be given on how it will meet the needs of 
the area. 

It is considered that although the shops and services currently available within the area are 
well used; this being reflected in the fact that there are very few vacant units available, the 
addition of two retail units in an area that falls in effect between two local parades located 
along Milkstone Road and Oldham Road can be justified without detriment to the vitality and 
viability of existing shop and service provision. 

With regards to the criteria b), the applicant has provided a planning statement which confirms 
that following a site survey there are no vacant commercial units within the nearby local 
centres situated on Oldham Road or Milkstone Road. Those units that are vacant, and 
available to let or to buy on the open market, are located some distance away from the 
application site and would also require extensive investment to improve their quality before 
occupation. For example, there are some retail units available on Oldham Road on the 
southern side of its junction with the A664 in ‘Lower Place’. There is also a Methodist Church 
building for sale on Milkstone Road, which would not provide suitable accommodation for the 
proposed development.  

The applicant is seeking the proposed development in order to make use of underused land 
within his ownership and to complement his existing business at 90 Durham Street. The 
application site is able to accommodate two purpose-built retail units with office 
accommodation above. No other units providing the amount and quality of combined 
accommodation sought are available elsewhere within close proximity of the site. 

Due to the high occupancy rates of the surrounding commercial units, it therefore can be 
concluded that there is a demand for this type of development within the locality and that the 
introduction of the two retail units and office accommodation will not have an adverse impact 
on the viability and vitality of established parades within the area. 



With regard to criteria c) the site lies within walking distance of the residential areas which 
form part of the ward of Deeplish and Milkstone. It is considered that the proposed site is 
suitably located and can be accessed by foot and therefore complies with criteria c).

Criteria d) considers the impact of the proposed development on the amenity of the nearby 
residents. In addition criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be 
permitted where:It would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or 
future occupants of buildings or users of open space

The adjoining building is currently occupied by a shop and the area is characterised by a mix 
of residential and commercial properties some of which will open during the evening. To the 
rear of the site lies the rear elevations of no’s 73-81 Exeter Street which would lie some 16m 
from the rear elevation of the proposed building.    Considering the character of the area which 
includes variety of commercial, residential and community uses the local residents would 
expect to experience a reduced level of amenity in comparison to houses located in suburban, 
residential settings. Given the site’s mixed commercial context, its frontage onto the busy 
thoroughfare of Durham Street, it is not considered that the proposed use would generate an 
unacceptable level of noise and disturbance which would unduly affect the amenity of 
adjoining occupiers through customer comings and goings or vehicle movements.  In addition, 
the distances between the rear elevation of the proposed building and the rear elevations of 
nos. 73-81 Exeter Street would be similar to other relationships within the area and it is not 
considered that the development would unduly harm the outlook from the rear windows within 
nos. 73-81 Exeter Street and satisfactory levels of privacy would be achieved for the occupiers 
of them. 

In view of the above, it is considered that the proposed development is fully compliant with the 
provisions of saved UDP policy S/7.

The proposed layout, design and appearance of the building

Criteria (a), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:

 Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure;

 Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation;

 Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property.

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments:

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development;

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; 

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.



The character of the area is defined by pavement fronted properties which contain a simple 
arrangement of doors and windows.  With regard to the proposed shop fronts, they are both 
identical containing a centrally positioned doorway which lies in between two large windows.  
Timber fascia boards would extend above the two large shop windows and each shop front 
would contain an external shutter.  In order to reduce the visual impact of the shutters the 
shutter box housing would be fitted internally.  Located above the shops front would be two 
large windows which would serve the offices and they would be framed by a projecting stone 
lintel and a flush stone lintel.  The rear elevations contain a doorway which would be used to 
access the 1st floor offices and the rear of the shops.  The building would be faced with a red 
brick and a natural slate roofing tile would be used.  These materials would complement the 
design of the development and are considered acceptable 

The proposed building would contain a pitched roof which would attach to and be set at the 
same height of the pitched roof which lies over no. 90 Durham Street.  It is considered when 
by reason of its height and appearance, the proposed building would complement the 
character of the streetscene. 

In the case of this application it is considered that the proposal makes a good balance 
between protecting the local character of the area and providing a new development that 
would bring a new and uplifting addition to the street scene, improving the overall character 
and appearance of the area. The proposal is as such considered to be a positive addition to 
the street scene and one that would enhance the visual amenity of the area. As such, in this 
respect the application accords with policies G/BE/1 and BE/2 of the UDP as well as the 
NPPF.

Highway Safety

With any application for new development it is important to assess the impact on highway 
safety and under policy A/8 it is established that new development will be permitted provided 
that the additional traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of 
the highway network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Furthermore, policy A/9 
requires development to facilitate safe and convenient access for general traffic, which 
includes cars, motorcycles and commercial vehicles, ensuring road, junctions and access 
points are safe, convenient and suitable for the volume of traffic proposed. Additionally, 
appropriate access for emergency vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles should be provided.  Maximum car parking standards are also set down 
under policy A/10 of the UDP.

To fully assess the impacts on highway safety consultations have been undertaken with the 
Council Highway Services and they have confirmed no objection to the application. The 
development would provide 2 off street car parking spaces and along this section of Durham 
Street parking is unrestricted so on street parking can occur.  In addition the site is easily 
accessed via public transport, with a variety of regular bus routes traveling along Oldham 
Road and, the rail and Metrolink services are also within walking distance of the site. 

With the above in mind, Highway Services consider the site to be in a very sustainable 
location where a reason for refusal on highway safety grounds could not be defended.

In summary is considered that the application is acceptable in terms of highway safety, in 
accordance with policies G/A/1, A/8, A/9 and A/10 of the Rochdale UDP. 



Summary

The application would bring into use a long standing vacant, brownfield site with a mixed use 
area. The development would create jobs adjacent to a thriving district centre (Milkstone)and 
by reason of its design and appearance it would be a positive addition to the street scene, 
improving the overall character and appearance of the area.  The development would not 
generate an unacceptable level of noise and disturbance which would unduly affect the 
amenity of adjoining occupiers through customer comings and goings or vehicle movements.  
In addition, it is not considered that the development would unduly harm the privacy or 
amenity of the occupants of no’s 73-81 Exeter Street.

The proposal complies with the development plan, and where that is out of date, the relevant 
policies in the NPPF. The adverse impacts of the development would not be significantly and 
demonstrably outweighed by the benefits. The presumption in favour of sustainable 
development set out in Paragraph 14 of the NPPF therefore applies and the application is 
recommended for approval. 

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the following conditions:

 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

 2 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

A101 - Floor Plans 
A102 - Elevations and Section 
DWG 10 - Roller shutter section 
A302 - Site Plan 

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground works 
shall take place until samples or full details of materials to be used externally on the 
building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Only 
the materials so approved shall be used, in accordance with any terms of such 
approval.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Council's Unitary Development Plan and the 
NPPF.

 4 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until details of 
all windows and doors (including their materials, finishes, recesses and opening 



profile) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The windows and doors shall be installed in accordance with the duly 
approved details before the building hereby approved is first occupied and shall be 
retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 
character of the site and its surroundings in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policy BE/2 and the 
NPPF.

 5 No above ground works shall take place until details of finished site and floor levels 
relative to an off-site datum have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.            

Reason: In the interests of amenity and in order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in 
order to comply with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy BE/2 and  
the NPPF. 

 6 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until details of 
the siting, height, design, materials and finish of the boundary treatments has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The duly 
approved boundary treatments shall be constructed in full accordance with the 
approved details before any of the uses hereby approved are first brought into use and 
shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity and to 
ensure adequate levels of privacy between neighbouring dwellings in the interests of 
the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan Policy BE/2 and the NPPF.

 7 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme to regulate surface water run-
off and to dispose of foul water has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the 
building hereby permitted is first occupied and thereafter subsequently maintained in 
perpetuity in accordance with a scheme which has first been agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and ensure future maintenance of 
the surface water drainage system in order to comply with Unitary Development Plan 
EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 8 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until a 
specification for the design and construction of the parking area and rear access, 
including provision for the drainage of surface water from it, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The parking area and rear access  
shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details before any of the uses 
hereby approved are first brought into use, and retained thereafter for the parking of 
vehicles.

Reason: In order to ensure there is adequate provision for vehicles to be parked clear 
of the highway and to ensure the suitable disposal of surface water in order to comply 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and A/10, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.



 9 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment (in addition 
to any assessment provided with the planning application) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on 
the site). The assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons and a written 
report of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development takes place. The submitted report shall include:

i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination
ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
                o  human health,
                o property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland, and service lines and pipes,
                o adjoining land,
                o groundwaters and surface waters,
                o ecological systems,
                o archaeological sites and ancient monuments;
iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 
proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 
approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the building(s) hereby approved 
are first occupied. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure contamination is appropriately 
identified and a strategy is in place before works commence on site to prevent pollution 
of the water environment and to ensure the safe development of the site in the 
interests of the amenity of future occupiers.  

10 The retail and office units hereby approved shall not operate outside the hours of 08:00 
to 20:00. 

Reason: In order to protect adjacent properties from undue levels of disturbance and to 
accord with policies S/7, G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the NPPF.

11 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 and the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) or any equivalent Order(s) following the 
amendment, revocation or re-enactment thereof the premises shall only be used for 
the purposes specified in the application and for no other purpose.  

Reason: In order to prevent other uses being implemented which  would have a 
greater impact  on residential amenity,  in compliance with Policies EM/3 and BE/2 of 
the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the NPPF.  

Report Author Paul Ambrose



Application Number: 15/00725/FUL    Ward: Healey      

Proposal: Residential development of 11 dwellings with associated access, parking, 
landscaping, footpath link and open space (Resubmission of 14/01309/FUL).

Site Address: Land Off Woodlea Chase/Stock Close/Fletton Close Rochdale   

Applicant: Mr David Walls
                  Cambrian Homes

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

The development has been brought before Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee as 
more than four objections have been received and the officer recommendation is for approval. 

SITE

This proposal relates to land approximately 0.98 ha in size which is located off Bentley Street 
and accessed from Stock Close and Fletton Close.  The site is allocated within the adopted 
Unitary Development Plan as Recreational Open Space (Policy G/3). 

The site forms part of a former quarry associated with a brick works. The quarry is known to 
have been in filled and it has been restored as a semi-natural area of open space with mixed 
grasses and herbaceous plants and a small number of trees. The area is relatively flat but dips 



down to a wetland area and pond in the south west corner. The site has some visual amenity 
due to its semi natural character and the views across of a raised embankment of dense 
woodland. As there is no physical evidence of previous development or structures, the site is 
regarded as greenfield (not previously developed) land.

Two culs-de sacs, Stock Close and Fletton Close, adjoin the site at 90 degrees. Whilst they 
comprise mostly detached with some semi-detached dwellings, Fletton Close includes a row 
of 12 town houses which overlook the application site. 

The site is in a predominantly residential area to the north of central Rochdale comprising a 
mix of traditional and modern housing. The area is easily accessible from the town centre via 
Whitworth Road and Falinge Road.

The Woodlea Chase development which comprises the existing dwellings located along Stock 
Close and Fletton Close was granted planning permission (98/D35832) in September 1999 
and it was subject to a Section 106 agreement. The requirements of the Section 106 
agreement are ongoing and require the land subject to this application to be retained as a 
summer meadow accessible to the public and maintained in a fit condition. 

PROPOSAL

This is a full planning application for the construction of 11 dwellings.  

There are 6 dwelling types designed specifically for this site, which would either provide 4 or 5 
bedrooms. The mix of house types proposed would be 6no. 4 bedroom properties and 5no. 5 
bedroom properties.  All the dwellings are detached and they would be accessed from semi 
private communal driveways which extend from either Stock Close or Fletton Close.   The 3no. 
dwellings which would be accessed from the end of Stock Close would face towards a 
proposed area of open space and the retained wetland area.  The other 8 dwellings would be 
accessed from the end of Fletton Close.

The dwellings would be two-storeys high and the majority of them contain integral garages. 
The external elevations would be faced using a red brick and artificial stone cills and lintels 
would frame the windows. 

The proposed layout provides for garden frontages to each dwelling. These frontages would 
comprise a combination of in-curtilage parking separated by landscaped gardens. Also, each 
dwelling would be provided with a rear garden. Boundary treatments around rear gardens 
would comprise 1.8m high fencing.  

The scheme proposes to retain and enhance the existing area of open space which adjoins 
the southern boundary of Stock Close. This area of open space measures some 0.22ha and 
extending through it would be a new footpath which would link between Stock Close and 
Fletton Close.  

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)



The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/5 Residential Density
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy 
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development - Access for Cyclists 
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments 

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in New Development

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/3 Protection of Existing Recreational Open Space 
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space
G/5 New Provision of Outdoor Sports Facilities

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contaminated Land 
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land
EM/11 Other Degraded Land and Buildings

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological / Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4 Protected Species



G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement 
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
NE/9 Protection of Woodlands 

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy 
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Biodiversity and Development SPD

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

1988/D22540 – Residential Development.  Approved.

1998/D35832 – Residential Development of 49 dwellings.  Approved.  

14/01309/FUL – Residential Development of 18 dwellings.  Withdrawn.  

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

RBC Highways Officer:- The Councils Highways Officer has raised no objections to the 
proposal and makes the following comments: - 

 For a development of this size and nature ample dedicated parking has been provided.
 The additional development will not have a negative impact upon road safety.

Environmental Health (Noise): – No objection in principle to this application but would 
recommend the following condition be considered. “The hours of construction are restricted to 
07:30am to 6.00pm Monday to Friday; 9.00am to 2.00pm on Saturdays. No work on Sundays.”
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit:- Raise no objections to the proposal and make the 
following comments and recommendations: -

 A full great crested newt (gcn) survey was submitted with the application.    This was 
probably unnecessary as the site is clearly low risk being land locked, of relatively 
recent creation and not located near to any known great crested newt sites.  The 
survey revealed there are no great crested newts on the site and therefor no mitigation 
is required.

 Japanese knotweed and Monbretia were noted as being present on the site within the 
great crested newt survey.  Therefore it is necessary that a condition be imposed 
which requires a method statement detailing eradication and/or control and/or 
avoidance measures for Japanese Knotweed be submitted for the approval of the 
Local Planning Authority.

 Potential bird nesting habitats would be lost as a result of the development.  Therefore 
it is necessary to impose the following condition No trees or shrubs or vegetation 
including Typha swamp will be removed between the 1st March and 31st August in any 
year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has been 



carried out immediately prior to clearance and written confirmation provided that no 
active bird nests are present which has been agreed in writing by the LPA.

 Semi-natural habitat will still be lost as a result of the development.  However the 
resubmitted proposal includes retention of the pond and some of the associated 
marshy grassland.  In addition the landscape plans shows native tree planting and 
provision of marshy grassland.  I am therefore now satisfied that there is adequate 
commitment to provide on-site mitigation.

Environmental Health (Contamination): - No objections subject to condition securing site 
investigation and risk assessment.

GM Fire and Rescue Service - No objections

Natural England  - No comment. 

United Utilities - Raise no objection to the proposal provided that the following conditions are 
attached to any approval: -

 This site must be drained on a separate system, with only foul drainage connected into 
the foul sewer. Surface water should discharge to the surface water sewer network to 
meet the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 

Strategic Planning (Transport) - No objections 

RBC Drainage Officer/Lead Local Flood Authority:– No comment. 

Greater Manchester Police (Design for Security): - No comment

REPRESENTATIONS

The neighbouring properties have been notified, site notices have been posted and the 
application has been advertised in the local press.  

The Council has received 9 letters of objection against the proposal.  The objections are 
summarised below followed by Officer’s response. 

 To allow this development to go ahead destroying the natural habitat that groups of 
foxes, deer, bats, birds and amphibious creatures have made their home in depicts 
Rochdale Council's poor assessment of the strength of their public’s opinions and 
feelings. There isn't a single resident in this locality that supports this development.

Response.  The submitted supporting documents have demonstrated that, in principle, 
a residential development at the site would not harm ecological interests.  The 
development offers the opportunity for the enhancement of biodiversity within the site 
and satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that the 
development would not adversely affect the limited nature conservation value of the site 
or the favourable conservation status of any protected species

 The area behind Tesco Express at the top of Bentley Street is currently being 
developed, a further 9 dwellings to be built on this land. An extra 20 dwellings between 
the two developments will create in excess of 25 additional vehicles contributing to the 
already congested Bentley Street.



Response. It is considered that the site lies in a sustainable location, the proposed 
access arrangements in and out of the site would operate safely and the traffic 
generated by the development and the other development on the land behind Tesco 
Express can safely be accommodated on the surrounding road network.

 The applicant has breached the Section 106 agreement which required them to 
maintain the land which is subject to the current application.  
Response.  This matter is covered within the analysis section of the report.

 The development would overlook the existing adjacent dwellings.

Response. The design and the position of the proposed dwellings would ensure that the 
development maintains satisfactorily levels of privacy and amenity between the 
proposed dwellings and the uses which adjoin the site.

 The access to the site from Stock Close is very narrow and I am concerned that some 
vehicles may get damaged on the street.

Response. It is proposed to access the development by away of private driveways 
which would extend from Stock Close and Fletton Close. These private driveways 
would not be adopted and they are wide enough to allow vehicles to pass one another.  
It is considered that the resulting highway layout of the scheme is suitable to provide 
satisfactory access.  

ANALYSIS

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the 
legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, to which there are three mutually dependent dimensions: economic, social and 
environmental.  

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; 
and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the 
community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means that local planning authorities should positively seek 
opportunities to meet the development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet 
objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 



assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the 
NPPF indicate development should be restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development means: 
 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay, and

 Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 
planning permission unless:
o Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole; or 

o Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers may 
also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of preparation of 
the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and the 
degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF 
(the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).  

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013.  An independent Inspector 
was appointed to hold the examination and the examination in public hearing sessions took 
place in October 2013. Following the initial hearing sessions, and in view of more recent 
evidence emerging from the 2011 census indicating higher than projected population growth 
and household formation rates, the Inspector sent a letter to the Council in November 2013 
which set out his views in respect of the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the 
evidence regarding objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set out in the 
submitted Core Strategy. 

In order to address this issue, the Inspector directed that an update of the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should be 
suspended in order for the updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014 to update 
the housing evidence.  

Following consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014, the updated SHMA was finalised in 
February 2015 and the Core Strategy examination was recently reconvened in June 2015 to 
consider the updated housing needs evidence. The Inspector’s report and recommendations 
are currently awaited. 

The SHMA proposes that a figure of 460 dwellings per annum (dpa) would be an appropriate 
annual housing target reflecting current evidence on objectively assessed housing need, 
taking account levels of population and household growth emerging from the 2012 Sub 
National Population Projections (SNPP).  It is important at this point however to clarify that the 
SHMA considers a range of need between 460 dpa up to 750 dpa based on various growth 
scenarios and it is for the Inspector to determine the appropriate housing target.  Until the 
Inspector issues the final report, the Council does not have a tested housing target for the plan 
period that would determine the number of dwellings to be delivered per annum and any 
emerging housing target, whether it be 460 or otherwise would therefore have limited weight at 
this time.   However, it is however clear that in light of this most recent evidence of housing 
need that the UDP policy requirement for 240 new homes per annum is out of date.  



In determining whether or not a five year land supply can be demonstrated, it is necessary to 
consider the availability of land for housing against the latest tested housing target.  Recent 
appeal decisions have taken what is referred to as the recalculated Regional Spatial Strategy 
(RSS) target into account.  The RSS dates back to 2003 and whilst the RSS was revoked in 
May 2013, the evidence base supporting the document remains relevant.  The RSS target for 
the Borough was 400dpa and the recalculated element refers to ‘unmet need’ arising as a 
result of completion rates per annum falling below this target since 2003.  

In considering housing land supply housing targets, the NPPF requires that a buffer of 5% be 
included in order to ensure that any target continues to be met.  This would typically be land 
brought forward in the plan period to provide choice and competition in the market for land. 
However, this approach would not apply here. In circumstances where there has been a 
record of persistent under delivery of new housing, the NPPF makes clear that this buffer 
should be increased to 20% brought forward in the plan period. In Rochdale Borough’s case, 
housing completions in recent years, and taken as a whole since 2003, are well below the 
previous target of 400 dpa set out in Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) largely as a result of the 
major demolition programmes within the former Housing Market Renewal areas, which applied 
from 2003.

Therefore, in considering the current five year land supply since the publication of the NPPF, 
Planning Inspectors on recent appeals have taken the view that a 20% buffer should be 
applied in assessing whether or not a five year supply can be demonstrated within the 
Borough.  This is the approach taken by Planning Inspectors in determining recent appeals in 
the Borough relating to the development of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and Keswick 
Street and designated green space for housing elsewhere within the Borough.  

As at the 1st of April 2015 in order to have met the target set out in RSS the borough should 
have delivered 4800 dwellings between 2003 and 2015 (i.e. 12 x 400).  However, the actual 
number of net completions in the period 2003 to 2015 was 3166.  Therefore this creates a 
shortfall of 1634 (4800 – 3166) that, taking account of the guidance, would need to be made 
up over the remainder of the period up to 2021.  If this shortfall is added to the remaining 
requirement set out in RSS between 2015 and 2021 of 2400 (i.e. 6x400) this creates a need to 
deliver 4034 dwellings in the period 2015-2021.  If this is to be delivered consistently over the 
remainder of the period this equates to 672 per annum (i.e. 4034/6).  This figure could not be 
met from the current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2015) with either the 5% or 
20% supply buffer.

This recalculated RSS target is higher than that of 621 as at April 2014 (as set out in previous 
committee reports) as completions in 2014/15 were again below the annual requirement set 
out in RSS.
  
Housing Delivery Rates

Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular 
issues faced within the Borough in terms of the delivery of new homes, and the recent 
background of clearance and demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal 
pathfinder programme. Indeed, between 2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were 
demolished across the Borough. As a result, during the period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 
there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings per year, thus well below the RSS 
target and significantly below the recalculated target.  Following the submission of the Core 
Strategy for examination, the rate of housing completions across the Borough has been below 
that set out within the RSS with a total of net completions of 267 in 2013/14 and 313 for 
2014/15, thus below both the original RSS requirement and the recalculated requirement.  



The Core Strategy seeks to manage the supply of land between the period 2012 until 2028 
and now proposes a higher housing requirement to respond to more recent evidence of 
population growth and household formation rates.  As of 1st April 2015, it must be therefore 
recognised that, were the Inspector to accept that an appropriate annual housing target for the 
Borough is 460, the Council would already be facing a shortfall of 352 housing completions 
against this target for the first three years of the Core Strategy period.  It is therefore 
concluded that the 20% buffer as advocated within the NPPF and accepted by the Inspectors 
as being relevant for the Borough in 2013 at the Broad Lane and Keswick Street appeals 
would similarly apply at the present time.

Going forward, the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the 
delivery of new housing against any plan target given a significant number of dwellings are 
proposed to be demolished over the next few years as part of the continued regeneration of 
existing housing areas.  The demolitions would need to be offset by an increase in new 
housing completions in order to avoid a further shortfall in new housing delivery.  

To meet targets going forward will require a significant uplift in the current rate of delivery of 
new housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will be needed 
to ensure acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure housing 
needs are met over the Core Strategy plan period.  The Inspector, in considering the 
soundness of the Core Strategy, may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward and 
dealt with earlier in the plan period.     

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the 
housing policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, paragraph 
14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ 
means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) when assessed 
against the Framework as a whole; or where specific policies indicate development should be 
restricted.  

Whilst the Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the policies within it carry limited 
weight at this time, it nevertheless sets out the approach to assessing applications for housing 
developments within such locations and accordingly reflects the approach within the NPPF in 
providing a more flexible and responsive approach to dealing with changes to development 
needs over the plan period.  However, the Core Strategy covers a period between 2013 up to 
2028. As reported previously, consistent undersupply against the housing target in the Core 
Strategy, particularly in the early years of the plan period, would further exacerbate the 
undersupply of housing in the Borough and would prejudice the delivery of the Core Strategy 
in the plan period. It would also be contrary to the NPPF requirement to boost significantly the 
supply of housing. The Inspector may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward and 
dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Having regard to the above, the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five year supply 
of housing land.  In light of this, it is noted that paragraph 49 of the NPPF is clear that relevant 
policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning 
authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites and housing 
applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The NPPF must be afforded significant weight in the determination of this 
application and the presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged. 

With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, the 
site is located adjacent to an existing residential area and the urban areas of Falinge and 
Shawclough.  The site is located close to Whitworth Road, where there are frequent bus 
routes to reach jobs, shops and other services. The site also lies within easy walking distance 
from other important services such as shops and schools. The site is partially surrounded by 



existing housing and the provision of the necessary infrastructure to serve the site, (roads, 
sewers, water and power supplies etc), could be easily provided from the adjacent roads, 
without any significant or undue harm to the environment. The proposed development is 
therefore considered to be within a sustainable and accessible location.

It is noted that the number of dwellings proposed would make a contribution towards the 
supply of housing within the Borough.  In the context of the above, significant weight is 
afforded to the benefits of the proposal in respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in 
the Borough.  

Protection of Existing Recreational Open Space

The site is allocated in the adopted Rochdale UDP as Existing Recreational Open Space. 
Policy G/3 of the UDP seeks to protect recreational open space unless the following 
exceptions apply; - 

 The proposed development is for a non-commercial community use within a park or 
other recreational area and would not result in a deficiency of open space; 

 Alternative provision of equivalent quantity and quality is provided as part of the 
development; 

 The development funds improvements to open space and outdoor sports facilities to a 
level commensurate with the level of loss.

 The development comprises a built recreational facility of greater benefit to the wider 
community than the open space being lost. 

Paragraph 74 of the NPPF states:-

‘Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, 
should not be built on unless:
 an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 

buildings or land to be surplus to requirements;
 the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 

better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or
 the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the need for which 

clearly outweighs the loss’.

Given the nature of the proposal, only criterion b) of policy G/3 and the second bullet bullet of 
paragraph 74 of the NPPF can be considered to be appropriate to this application.  To accord 
with these requirements alternative provision of open space should be made of at least the 
equivalent quantity and quality.  

The development results in a significant loss of existing open space.  Although an area is 
being retained and improved it is unlikely that, on its own, this could be considered to satisfy 
criterion b) of policy G/3 or bullet point 2 of paragraph 74 of the NPPF. The open space to be 
retained adjoins Stock Close, it measures approximately 0.22ha and it would comprise the 
retained pond, a footpath and a lawned area which would lie in between plots 1 and 2 and 
Stock Close.  

The current area of open space that forms the site was set aside to serve a 49 dwelling 
scheme (98/D35832) completed a number of years ago on the former Bentley Street 
Brickworks site.  Therefore in order to satisfy the policy the applicant has offered up an off-site 
contribution to open space that would cover not only shortfall in the size of the retained open 
space for the proposed 11 new dwellings but also for the 49 dwellings that the open space 
being developed was originally set aside to serve.  The total open space contributions 
associated with the scheme is confirmed below: - 



(i) £4,651,90 – Off site local open space contribution due to the shortfall in the size of the 
retained open space for the 11 dwellings. 

(ii) £23,706,08 – Off site sports contribution required for the provision of the proposed 11 
dwellings 

(iii) £63,876,80 – Off site local open space contribution for the existing 49 dwellings 

(iv) £92,234,78 – Total contribution 

In light of this, consideration needs to be given as to whether the smaller area of improved 
open space being retained and the increased off-site contribution would satisfy criterion b) of 
the policy G/3 and the second bullet point within paragraph 74 of the NPPF.

In assessing this there are two main issues to consider.  The first is the role and function of the 
existing open space being lost and the second is the opportunity to improve existing space in 
the vicinity that would serve the local community.  In terms of the first issue it is acknowledged 
that the existing open space is an underused area of land with limited recreational value.  The 
proposal should help to create a visually attractive, albeit much smaller, area of open space 
that is more usable by the public due to the provision of a footpath and improved pond area.

In relation to the second issue there is to the north of Bentley Street a linear recreational route 
and Right of Way that follows the route of a former railway line.  This route has been created 
to provide an attractive recreational route which links the urban area to Healey Dell Nature 
Reserve and also links to other open spaces along the route.  Although there has been 
investment to enhance this route in the past there is still a need to undertake improvements 
and the off-site contribution for local open space from this proposal would provide an 
opportunity to do this.  It is considered that the improvement of this route would provide 
significant recreational benefits to residents in the local area, including those within the new 
development.

Taking account of the above it is considered that the improved area of open space being 
retained along with the increased off-site contribution would result in recreational 
improvements that would outweigh the loss of existing open space and provide greater benefit 
to the public than the retention of the existing open space on site.  Therefore, it is considered 
that this proposal would satisfy criterion b) of policy G/3 and the second bullet point within 
paragraph 74 of the NPPF.  

Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of Surrounding Area

The NPPF promotes high quality design and states that the Government attaches great 
importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making 
places better for people (paragraph 56).  

Criteria (a), (e), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design 
by: 

 Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure;

 Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout.



 Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation;

 Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property.

Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide.

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments:

1. will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development;

2. establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

3. respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; 

4. create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.

The proposed layout would be accessed from both Stock Close and Fletton Close by way of 
semi-private driveways.  The driveway from Stock Close would serve 3no.  detached dwellings 
while the  driveway from Fletton Close would contain 8no. detached dwellings.  Both 
driveways do not connect to one another.   In order to promote natural surveillance the 
dwellings would overlook the private driveways and each dwelling would be set behind open 
landscaped front and side gardens comprising a mix of driveways, lawned areas and tree 
planting. Whilst it is noted that close boarded fences would be necessary to border the side 
and rear of the private gardens, the arrival points into the development are open which will 
allow for views in and out of the site. 

The proposed dwellings would be of modern design comprising a selection of detached 
dwellings which would be faced with a red brick and grey slate tile would be used on the roof.   
Windows would have a vertical emphasis and would be framed by stone cills and brick 
headers. 

It is considered that the height, scale, layout, design, landscaping and materials of the 
proposed development would be compatible with the prevailing character and grain of streets 
and housing in the surrounding area. The proposal is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policy BE/2, and the NPPF.

Amenity of Future Occupants and Surrounding Residents

Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings and one of the 12 core planning principles of 
the NPPF is to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings.  

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations.



The following distances would be achieved between the proposed dwellings and those which 
overlook the site: - 

 The front elevation of plot 10 would lie some 21m from the front elevation of no. 23 
Fletton Mews. 

 The front elevation of plot 9 would lie 20.5m from the front elevations of no’s 19 and 
21 Fletton Mews.

 The front elevation of plot 8 would lie 21m from the front elevations of no’s 13 and 15 
Fletton Mews.

 The front elevation of plot 7 would lie 22.5m from the front elevations of 5 and 7 
Fletton Mews. 

 The front gable elevation of plot 1 would lie some 14m from the rear elevation of no. 
17 Stock Close. 

In respect of the above mentioned separation distances, the front elevation of nos 1-23 Fletton 
Close would be separated from the front elevations of plots 7-10 by gardens, a footpath and a 
small private driveway.  It is considered that the separation distances between the above 
mentioned dwellings and plots 7-10 is sufficient to provide adequate privacy and prevent any 
unacceptable overshadowing.

No. 17 Stock Close is a detached dwelling and it lies adjacent to the proposed retained area of 
open space and plot 1 which is a large detached dwelling. Plot 1 is ‘L’ shaped and its front 
blank gable elevation would lie some 14m from the corner of the gable and rear elevations of 
no. 17 Stock Close.  The rear elevation of no. 17 Stock Close faces away from plot 1 and it is 
considered that the relationship between these two dwellings is acceptable to ensure there 
would not be unacceptable harm to residential amenity. 

With regards to the amenity of future occupants of the proposed development, it is noted that 
the layout of the proposed dwellings would ensure that each dwelling would benefit from an 
area of private outdoor amenity space to the rear and / or side with the main outlook being 
provided to the front and rear of the dwellings. The internal layout of each dwelling provides 
adequately sized rooms with each habitable room providing sufficient natural daylight and 
ventilation for the future occupants. In addition, the majority of the proposed dwellings on site 
would accord with the minimum separation distances set out in the above SPG. 

Once the development is completed, the comings and goings from the development and the 
activity on the site would be that normally associated with a residential estate.   It is 
considered that the increased comings and goings from vehicle using Stock Close or Fletton 
Close would not be detrimental to the amenity of the occupiers of the dwellings located along 
Stock Close or Fletton Close. 

The proposed retained area of open space would lie adjacent to plots 1 to 3 and no. 17 Stock 
Close.  This area of open space is overlooked by plots 1 to 3 and it is not considered its use 
would cause a noise nuisance to the occupiers of no. 17 Stock Close of the future occupiers of 
plots 1 to 3.  

It is acknowledged that there would be some disruption during the construction process. This 
is unavoidable and is a necessary, albeit temporary effect of any development proposal. A 
condition is included within the recommendation which requires a Construction Management 
Plan to be submitted which can further control construction activity (for example by restricting 



the hours during which it can take place) to ensure that any impact on residential amenity is 
not unduly severe. On this basis, it is considered that construction impacts would not be a 
sustainable or justifiable reason to refuse planning permission. 

In summary the design and the position of the proposed dwellings would ensure that the 
development maintains satisfactorily levels of privacy and amenity between the proposed 
dwellings and the uses which adjoin the site. The scheme would have no undue impact on the 
amenity of future occupiers through overlooking, noise, overshadowing, loss of outlook or loss 
of daylight, and would achieve adequate levels of amenity between future occupiers of the 
houses.  Therefore the development is in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies 
H/3, EM/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG Note “Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Access and Highway Safety Implications

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.

Traffic Generation/Highway Network Capacity/Access 

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;

b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

c) Substantially increase congestion;

d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or

e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and

d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.



UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that:

 Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and

 Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy BE/2 (g) requires proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access 
and circulation, which is also required by paragraph 58 of the NPPF.  

The Councils Highways Officer has raised no objections to the proposal and it is considered 
that the increase in traffic associated with 11 additional dwellings is not itself considered to 
cause any over-riding harm to the surrounding highway capacity. In addition, it is noted that 
the surrounding road network comprises residential streets of sufficient width to accommodate 
the respective additional vehicular traffic.

It is proposed to access the development by away of semi private driveways which would 
extend from Stock Close and Fletton Close. These private driveways would not be adopted 
and they are wide enough to allow vehicles to pass one another.  It is considered that the 
resulting highway layout of the scheme is suitable to provide satisfactory access.  

The site has the benefit of good access to a wide range of local facilities and is served by a 
frequent bus service which is within walking distance of the site. It is therefore in a sustainable 
location and close to other existing residential development.

It is concluded that the site is in a sustainable location, the proposed access arrangement in 
and out of the site would operate safely  and the traffic generated by the development can 
safely be accommodated on the surrounding road network in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies BE/2, A/3, A/8 and A/9 and the NPPF.  

Parking

UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling.” The policy states that car parking 
provision at less than the maximum standard will be accepted subject to an assessment of the 
following criteria:

a) The location of the development and the appropriateness and feasibility of providing 
parking provision within that location;

b) Access to other transport modes;

c) The availability of other convenient and safe off-street parking;



d) The availability of unutilised on-street parking capacity and the ability to accommodate 
parking without harm to visual amenity or pedestrian / road safety; and

e) The willingness of a developer to fund traffic Orders to establish controls on on-street 
parking or other measures to mitigate the impact, including securing modal shift away 
from vehicular traffic and other traffic management measures.

Plots 4,5,6,7 and 9 would have access to 1 parking space and an integral garage. The other 
dwellings would have access to 2 car parking spaces.   In this location there is the opportunity 
to park on the semi-private driveways and the combined ratio of parking spaces is considered 
appropriate by the Councils Highways Officer to ensure that there is no additional pressure for 
parking on surrounding streets.

It is also noted that the site sits within a sustainable location within walking distance to public 
transport connections and a variety of retail and commercial, facilities within Shawclough and 
along Whitworth Road which would limit the need for residents to make trips by private motor-
vehicle. 

Having regard to the above and subject to conditions, the proposed development would 
provide suitable and safe car parking arrangements, in accordance with the NPPF and the 
above policies of the UDP.

Ecological and Nature Conservation Implications

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles:

a) if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

b) opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas which are not specially designated for their nature 
conservation value, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats 
of ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should 
seek to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would 
place an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory 
features or habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type 
of development permitted may be required. 

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that:



 There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;

 Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and

 Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure the nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 
safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

The proposed development site is a former brick works which has been capped with clay soil, 
planted and seeded and left to establish.  There is one large pond with swamp community 
within the proposed development boundary.  The use of clay has impeded the drainage on site 
making conditions wet and boggy in places. As a result, there are large areas dominated by 
soft rush with occasional creeping bent, nettle Urtica dioica, bramble Rubus fruticosus, broad-
leaved dock Rumex obtusifolius and wavy bitter cress Cardamine flexuosa present.

The application has been supported by great crested newt survey and arboricultural impact 
assessment and their findings and recommendations are summarised below: - 

 There are no Sites of Special Scientific Interest, Special Protection Areas or
Special Areas of Conservation on or adjacent to the survey site.

 There is no evidence that great crested newts are or have been present on the 
proposed development site or its immediate surroundings.

 In the arboricultural impact assessment report a total of 9 items were surveyed within, 
and adjacent, the development area. These items comprise 1x individual tree, 5x 
groups, 1x hedge and a woodland area.  The woodland area has a high value and it 
would be necessary to remove a small section of it in order to site plot 11.  All the other 
trees are stated to having a low value. 

 It is recommended that during the course of the development exclusion fencing is 
located around the pond.

 It is recommended that during the course of the development protective fencing is 
erected between the developed and the woodland to the south. 

 All works to the existing trees be carried out by a fully qualified tree surgeon and in 
accordance with BS 3998 (2010)

The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) have been consulted on the application and 
have raised no objection on nature conservation grounds and they have recommended that 
the following conditions be imposed 

 A method statement detailing eradication and/or control and/or avoidance measures 
for Japanese knotweed.

 No trees or shrubs or vegetation including Typha swamp will be removed between the 
1st March and 31st August in any year unless a detailed bird nesting survey by a 
suitably experienced ecologist has been carried out immediately prior to clearance and 
written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are present which has 
been agreed in writing by the LPA.  



In addition a condition is recommended which require the landscaping within the site be 
composed from native species and species known to be of value for the attraction of wildlife.  

It is considered that its loss of a small section of the woodland which lies within the rear 
garden of plot 11, is justified on the grounds that the overall value of the woodland in terms of 
its contribution towards local character and nature conservation would not be harmed.  

In summary, it is accepted that the submitted supporting documents have demonstrated that, 
in principle, a residential development at the site would not harm ecological interests.   The 
development offers the opportunity for the enhancement of biodiversity within the site and 
satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that the development would 
not adversely affect the limited nature conservation value of the site or the favourable 
conservation status of any protected species. The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF.

Drainage Implications

It is noted that the NPPG requires that surface water be dealt with in a hierarchy of 
sustainability, firstly to a soakaway or infiltration system, or where this is not practicable to a 
watercourse, or last of all to a sewer system.  In order to ensure the drainage strategy for the 
site were possible incorporates sustainable urban drainage principles, a condition has been 
recommended requiring the submission and approval of a detailed surface water and foul 
water drainage scheme including details of sustainable urban drainage systems to be provided 
on site. 

It is also noted that United Utilities and the Councils Drainage Officer have raised no 
objections to the proposed development. Therefore, it is considered that subject to conditions 
and the implementation of the approved drainage strategy, adequate measures can be put in 
place in order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding 
(either on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 
and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination

Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to, and enhance 
the natural and local environment by remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, 
contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate. Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies 
that where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for 
securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that:

 the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation 
or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

 after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and



 adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented.

In considering proposals for new development or change of use, the Council will take account 
of their potential for contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by 
refusing proposals likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent 
conditions.

The site forms part of a former quarry associated with a brick works. The quarry is known to 
have been in filled and it has been restored as a semi-natural area of open space.  Due the 
previous activities which took place on the site, it is highly likely that it will be contaminated 
and the Councils Contaminated Land Officer has recommended a condition requiring the 
submission and approval of a site investigation and risk assessment of the site prior to the 
commencement of development. 

Having regard to the above, a condition securing the submission, and approval of a site 
investigation and risk assessment and any necessary remediation measures has been 
recommended. It is considered that the proposal would comply with UDP policy EM/4 and 
guidance contained within the NPPF.   

Sustainable Construction and Renewable Energy

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include:

 The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development;

 The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and

 The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 
2020.  

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings 
which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important 
material consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents a 
material change in planning circumstances following the previous grant of planning permission 
on the site.



Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2016, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with 
any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing 
policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy 
which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a 
requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard 
or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement1, 
concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of 
water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new 
dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4. 

The direction of travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new 
dwellings should be brought forward through the new national technical standards, making 
reference to up to date Local Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new technical 
standards are optional and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making this 
should preferentially be through new policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current policy 
refers to a Code which has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it is considered 
most appropriate that the sustainability requirements of this development are dealt with by the 
Building Regulations. 

Developer Contributions 

A development of the size proposed would be required to make contributions towards 
recreational open space in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy H/6 and its 
associated Supplementary Planning Documents. This contribution would need to be secured 
through a planning obligation in accordance with the provisions of S106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act. 

Amendments to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations came into force in April 
2015 and the local planning authority is no longer able to pool contributions from five or more 
obligations to infrastructure projects that could be funded by CIL, whether there is a local levy 
in operation or not.  Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations also require that contributions meet 
the following three tests:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

(b) directly related to the development; and 

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 

Recreational Open Space:

Policy H/6 of the adopted Unitary Development Plan and the Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development relate to 
the provision of open space in new residential developments. These policies require a total of 
2.1 ha recreational open space to be provided per 1,000 population; this should comprise 1.0ha 
of local open space and 1.1ha of outdoor sports provision. The former should be provided on-

1 which require compliance with energy performance standards that exceed the energy requirements of 
Building Regulations until commencement of amendments to the Planning and Energy Act 2008 in the 
Deregulation Bill 2015 (likely to be late 2016).



site and the latter should be provided off-site where the scale of the development would not 
support the erection of formal sports facilities. 

As discussed elsewhere within the report the proposed scheme would effectively result in the 
loss of part of the proposed area of local open space to serve the development granted 
planning permission under ref. 98/D35832.  The open space to be retained adjoins Stock 
Close, it measures some 0.22ha and it would comprise the retained pond, a footpath and a 
lawned area which would lie in between plots 1 and 2 and Stock Close.  

The scheme would provide 11 houses which in total would provide 33 bedrooms.  A scheme 
of 33 bedrooms would require, in accordance with Policy H/6 of the adopted UDP and the 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD:  

 363 sqm of outdoor sports provision (33 bedrooms x 11sqm) (or in lieu of this a 
financial contribution of £23,706,08)

 330sqm of local open space (33 bedrooms x 10sqm).

The plans submitted within the application illustrate the remaining area of local open space 
would measure 2200sqm which is below the level required by the Councils adopted policies.  
However in this particular case the retained open space would be visually attractive, it would 
offer the potential for informal recreational activities to take place and it would lie in an 
accessible location being located at the end of Stock Close. It is considered that appropriate 
provision for open space is made directly on site to serve the existing and future populations 
and conditions are imposed which require details of its landscaping treatment and its future 
management to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Due to the fact that the 
level of local open space provided does not fully adhere to the Councils adopted policies, it is 
necessary for the applicant to make a financial contribution for the shortfall which equates to 
£4,651,90.  In addition to this the applicant has offered up an off-site contribution to open 
space that would cover not only the 11 new dwellings but also the 49 dwellings that the open 
space being developed was originally set aside to serve.

As with most developments the outdoor sports element of the policy will be dealt with via an 
off-site contribution. As the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations pooling 
restrictions, introduced on April 6 2015, require this to be delivered to a specific piece of 
infrastructure.  Discussions have taken place with the Council’s Environmental Management 
Service who have identified that the outdoor sports contribution (£23,706,08) would be spent 
at Lenny Barn Playing Fields which lies approximately 0.5 miles to the south - west of the site.  
Lenny Barn playing fields contains several football pitches and cricket pitch. In addition to this 
the financial contribution towards local open space (£68,527,170) would be spent towards 
upgrading the nearby linear recreational route and Right of Way that follows the route of a 
former railway line. This use of the money is considered to be directly related to the 
development (an increase in population leads to an increase in the requirement for open 
space), fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind (within easy access of the development 
by car, public transport and foot) and necessary for the development to take place (to mitigate 
against increased pressure on open space facilities from the population of the development). 
The requirement for outdoor sports provision is therefore considered to be compliant with 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations.



In summary it is considered that the proposal meets the Councils policies with regard to and 
recreational open space and it meets the CIL tests. It will be necessary for the applicant to 
enter into a S106 agreement which will secure the provision of recreational open space. 

Education:

The Council does not have an adopted policy on the provision of contributions towards 
educational facilities. Nevertheless, the evidence base produced by the Council’s Schools 
Service has identified shortfalls in school place provision, both at primary and secondary 
school level, across the Borough, but concentrated in particular ‘hotspots’. The Council have 
therefore been, in some cases, seeking appropriate contributions towards education provision 
from major development schemes, based on the evidence provided by the Schools Service. 

In this particular case, the Schools Services have commented that in this particular area of 
Rochdale there is a sufficient number of primary and secondary school places and therefore it 
is not necessary to seek a contribution towards education provision.  

This conclusion does not however rule out the possibility of education contributions being 
required from development in the Rochdale Township in the future. The Schools Service state 
that further analysis of admissions and demand across Rochdale Township will be 
undertaken. This will inform the consideration of future planning applications. 

Section 106 agreement subject to the previous application 

The application (1998/D35832 – Residential Development of 49 dwellings)  relating to this site 
is subject to a Section 106 agreement which required the land to be retained for use as 
recreational open space and maintained in a fit condition.  Although how this this requirement 
is defined is somewhat subjective, it is clear that the site has not been maintained in 
accordance with the requirements of the Section 106 agreement.  Therefore the requirements 
of the Section 106 agreement have been breached.  

Although the existing Section 106 agreement has been breached, it is necessary to judge the 
application on its planning merits and as noted elsewhere in this report the improved area of 
open space being retained along with the off-site contribution used to upgrade the nearby 
existing recreational route that follows the former railway line would result in recreational 
improvements that would outweigh the loss of existing open space.  

The land itself, rather than the person or organisation that developed the land, is bounded by 
existing Section 106 agreement and in this particular case it is necessary to vary the existing 
obligation with new ones which relate specifically to the proposed area of open space and the 
need to make the off-site contributions towards  upgrading  local open space and outdoor 
sports. 

Conclusions and Balancing Exercise

Having regard to the above matters, it is noted that whilst the proposed scheme would result in 
the reduction in the size of the existing recreational open space, the area of open space being 
retained along with the increased off-site contribution would result in recreational 
improvements that would outweigh the loss of existing open space.  Therefore, it is considered 
that this proposal would satisfy criterion b) of policy G/3 and the second bullet point of 
paragraph 174 of the NPPF. In the absence of a deliverable five year supply of housing land, 
the benefit of increasing the supply of housing land in the Borough is given great weight.



The proposed development would provide a sympathetically designed scheme that would not 
result in any demonstrable harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents, highway safety, nor 
to any protected or priority species and sites of nature conservation or landscape value. 
Subject to conditions, it is considered that adequate measures would be implemented to 
manage surface water and to prevent any increased risk of flooding elsewhere.

It is considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and accords with 
relevant policies in the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, and where these policies 
are out of date, the National Planning Policy Framework. The adverse impacts of granting 
planning permission would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 
assessed against the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework as a whole.  
Accordingly, it is recommended that planning permission is granted for the proposed 
development.  

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve:

That Members are minded to GRANT planning permission subject to:

 The variation of the existing Section 106 in order to secure:

a) The provision and maintenance of recreational open space in accordance with the 
Council’s open space policies, with local open space being provided on-site and off site 
at the former railway line which lies to the north of Bentley Street. The contribution 
towards formal sports provision would be  provided off-site, at Lenny Barn sports 
pitches.  

 That the Council enters into an agreement under the provisions of Section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and other appropriate legislation with regard to 
the matters set out above;

 The Head of Planning being authorised to issue the decision notice on completion of 
the Section 106 Agreement;

and subject to the following conditions and reasons:-

 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

 2 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 
drawings.

Location Plan Scale 1:1250 
117.01.P01 Rev D  - Site Layout 
5B1810A - 5 bed house - Plans and Elevations 
5B1810B  - 5 bed house - Plans and Elevations 
5B1650 - 5 bed house  - Plans and Elevations 
4B1280D - 4 bed house  - Plans and Elevations 



Berkley - 4 bed house  - Plans and Elevations 
Berkley  - 4 bed house  - Plot 4 opp 
4B1280B - 4 bed house - Plans and Elevations 
4934.04 - Landscape Proposals  

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until samples or 
full details of materials to be used externally on the building(s) have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the 
type, colour and texture of the materials. Only the materials so approved shall be used, 
in accordance with any terms of such approval.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Council's Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

 4 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until details of 
all windows and doors (including their materials, finishes, recesses and opening 
profile) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The windows and doors shall be installed in accordance with the duly 
approved details before the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied and shall be 
retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 
character of the site and its surroundings in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policy BE/2 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

 5 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place on any plot until 
details of the siting, height, design, materials and finish of boundary treatments for that 
plot have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The duly approved boundary treatments shall be constructed in full accordance with 
the approved details before the dwelling on that plot is first occupied, and shall be 
retained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity and to 
ensure adequate levels of privacy between neighbouring dwellings in the interests of 
the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan Policies BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 6 Details of finished floor levels and external ground levels for each plot shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development at that plot takes place. The development shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the duly approved details.

Reason:  In order to ensure a satisfactory relationship between the new dwellings and 
between the development and surrounding buildings in the interests of residential and 
visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
Policies H/3 and BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework.



 7 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the design, construction 
and drainage of the communal and private and driveways has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The duly approved scheme shall 
be implemented before any of the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied, and 
the estate road retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works and surface treatment 
in order to achieve appropriate provision for vehicle access, circulation and 
manoeuvring in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies BE/2, A/8 and A/9 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 8 No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until surface water drainage works 
have been implemented in accordance with details that have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Before these details are submitted 
an assessment shall be carried out of the potential for disposing of surface water by 
means of a sustainable drainage system, and the results of the assessment provided 
to the local planning authority. Where a sustainable drainage scheme is to be provided, 
the submitted details shall:

i) provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the method 
employed to delay and control the surface water discharged from the site and the 
measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface 
waters;
ii) include a timetable for its implementation; and provide a management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall include the 
arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and ensure future maintenance of 
the surface water drainage system in order to comply with Unitary Development Plan 
EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 9 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no development other than remediation in accordance 
with condition 16 shall take place until a detailed scheme for the disposal of foul water 
drainage, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently 
maintained, in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied within the 
scheme or within any other period as may subsequently agreed, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure future maintenance of the foul water drainage system in order to 
comply with Unitary Development Plan EM/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

10 No development shall take place until a scheme to provide temporary protective 
fencing or other means of enclosure around the adjacent woodland and retained pond 
has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The fence or 
other means of enclosure shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details 
before any development takes place and it shall be retained throughout the 
construction period until the development has been completed.  

Reason: In order to protect the adjoining land from damage and pollution during 
construction, in accordance with Policies NE/2 and NE/6 of the Unitary Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.



Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works it is necessary to protect the adjacent woodland and retained pond 
before the development commences.

11 No development shall take place until all trees that are to be retained adjacent to the 
site have been enclosed with temporary protective fencing in accordance with 
BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction. 
Recommendations'. The fencing shall be retained during the period of construction and 
no work, excavation, tipping, or stacking/storage of materials shall take place within 
such protective fencing during the construction period.

Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the 
amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/8 of the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: Preparatory and ground works have the 
potential to damage trees and therefore protective measures must be in place before 
any development takes place.

12 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, within 3 months of development first taking place, a 
landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Such a scheme shall include details of the type, species, siting, 
planting distances and the programme of planting of native trees and shrubs.  The 
scheme of planting, as approved, shall be carried out during the first planting season 
after the development is substantially completed and the areas which are landscaped 
shall be retained as landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, 
being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting 
shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally 
required to be planted.

Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory level of landscaping in the interests of the 
amenities of the area in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/8 of the Council's 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

13 No development shall take place until a scheme of works, which shall include a 
detailed method statement, for the control and disposal of the invasive plant species 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
agreed scheme of works and method statement shall be implemented in full throughout 
the course of the development.

Reason: To secure the satisfactory disposal of invasive species of plant, which under 
the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended, it is an offence to be 
caused to spread in the wild, in accordance with the general principles of Policy NE/3 
of the Council's Unitary Development Plan.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure an appropriate scheme to control 
the spread is implemented on commencement and throughout the construction 
process

14 No above ground works shall take place until a Biodiversity Enhancement and 
Landscape Management Plan (BELMP) for the site has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The BELMP shall include: (i) 
details of habitat enhancement measures to be provided including bird boxes and bat 
boxes; (ii) management responsibilities; (iii) maintenance schedules; and (v) a 



timetable for its implementation. The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented in full 
accordance with the duly approved details and timetable contained therein.

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

15 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place during the above period until a 
methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nest site 
protection shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the duly approved 
methodology.

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 
Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

16 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment (in addition 
to any assessment provided with the planning application) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on 
the site) and the extent of the coal mining activities which may have taken place on the 
site. The assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons and a written report 
of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before any development takes place. The submitted report shall include:

i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination, which shall identify all 
previous uses including any mine entries within the site, potential contaminants 
associated with those uses and a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, 
pathways and receptors and potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination 
at the site;

ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
                o  human health,
                o property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland, and service lines and pipes,
                o adjoining land,
                o groundwaters and surface waters, including controlled waters,
                o ecological systems,
                o archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 
proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 
approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the buildings hereby approved are 
first occupied. 



If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 
the site then no further development shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and this shall be approved in writing by 
the local planning authority.  The remediation shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved strategy.  

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure contamination is appropriately 
identified and a strategy is in place before works commence on site to prevent pollution 
of the water environment and to ensure the safe development of the site in the 
interests of the amenity of future occupiers.  

17 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: - (i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials 
and construction; (ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; (iii) loading 
and unloading of plant and materials; (iv) storage of plant and materials used in 
constructing the development; (v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(vi) wheel washing facilities; (vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt 
during construction; and (viii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
construction works.   The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 
nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works an understanding will therefore be necessary of what measures will 
be put in place to protect the amenity of nearby residents, prior to commencement of 
any building or engineering works on site.

Report Author Rachel Carney

______________________________________________



Application Number: 15/01001/FUL    Ward: Norden      

Proposal: Erection of new dwellinghouse

Site Address: Land At  Bamford Old Hall Off  Bury And Rochdale Old Road  

Applicant: Mr Mark Beswick
                  R&B Switchgear Services Ltd

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION

This application has been called up by Councillor Peter Winkler for the committee to consider 
the scale and visual impact of the proposed development. The application has also had 24 
letters of objection and 18 letters of support. 

If Members are minded to approve this application they are only empowered to make a 
recommendation on the proposal. As the development comprises a departure from the 
development plan it must first be referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee. However, 
the development comprises inappropriate development in the Green Belt and includes the 
provision of buildings where the floor space to be created by the development is 1000sqm or 
more. Under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009, where 
the Local Planning Authority does not propose to refuse an application for planning permission 
for this type of development, the Secretary of State must be consulted.



If Members of the Planning and Licensing Committee are minded to approve the application 
the Secretary of State shall be notified and if not minded to 'call in' the application for his own 
determination then the decision shall be deferred and delegated to the Head of Planning. 

SITE
The application site is set within a rural landscape bordered by Naden Brook to the west and 
open fields to the north, east and south. Bamford Wood lies to the west of the site which 
connects between Bury and Rochdale Old Road, Gelder Wood and Cobb Wood. The trees 
within Bamford Wood are protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO10). The site lies within 
the Green Belt. 

The site lies some 450m to the west of the village of Bamford and several hundred meters 
from Bury and Rochdale Old Road.  Vehicular access to the site is via Bury and Rochdale Old 
Road along a privately owned road which serves several large properties.   To the east of the 
site lies a residential dwelling known as Garden Cottage.

The adjacent Bamford Wood is visible across the landscape and as a result is an important 
feature in the local rural setting. It also adds to the landscape composition by significantly 
contributing to form a greater wooded area comprising of several woodlands.

The application site is currently grassed, it is relatively flat with a large rectangular pond to the 
north. The pond would have served the demolished Bamford Hall which was a substantial 
country house set within landscaped parkland.  The outlet from the pond extends through the 
site and down through Bamford Wood where it meets Naden Brook.  The views to the north of 
the site are open while the views in all other directions are screened by trees, hedging and 
Garden Cottage.  

Located just beyond the west facing boundary of the site, lies an ice house which is a brick 
built structure set within the hillside.  The entrance tunnel is constructed with red brick walls 
and large stones for the roof. The tunnel curves to the left and there are two stone steps down 
to the egg-shaped ice pit. The ice house would have been filled in winter with layers of ice 
from the pond and used throughout the year to supply the kitchen at Bamford Hall, in an era 
before refrigeration. Ice houses are increasing rare and there only around seven surviving 
examples in the country.

Historically, the site formed part of the Bamford Estate and the original Bamford Hall was 
constructed perhaps as early as the 13th century. Joseph Fenton acquired the Hall in1816 who 
was an important figure during the development of Rochdale’s textile industry.  New Bamford 
Hall, a stable block and the entrance lodge was built by the Fentons in 1841.   In 1888 the Hall 
was bought by Edward Stocks Massey, and later by a local Alderman. During the Second 
World War the site was used as a military Hospital and was later purchased by Heywood 
Corporation in 1946. In 1951 the hall was later demolished by James Berry Ltd who 
constructed the current properties on the adjacent site called Bamford Hall and Bamford Old 
Hall.

The site and its surroundings are considered to be of significance historical, evidential, 
aesthetic and communal value as it is a good example of small country parkland estate 
developed in the 19th century by the Fenton family.  

PROPOSAL

The application seeks consent for the erection of a crescent shaped dwelling with associated 
hard and soft landscaping.  Accommodation would be provided over two floors with the main 
living rooms and a workshop located on the ground floor.  Storage and garaging would be 
provided at the basement level with stairs and a lift installed to access the ground floor.  The 
total size of the dwelling would be 1273 sqm.



All rooms would have large open views of the pond and the landscape beyond.  Like many of 
the larger homes with the surrounding area it would be orientated along a south-west/north-
west axis. 

The elevations would be predominantly brickwork with feature panels in copper which will be 
oxidised and fixed at a mid-brown colour. The eaves/roof/gutters and downpipes will be in 
copper to match. The roof will be sedum and it would contain solar panels. 

The design approach taken of the house reflects the Picturesque/Palladian villa movement 
where elegant and fine houses of substance were set in a naturalistic landscape. The design 
is derived from the contrast between the natural wild landscape and the formal and elegant 
design of the old hall. 

The existing access from Bury and Rochdale Old Road would be utilised. Parking and turning 
facilities would be provided in front of the house and a ramped access would extend through 
into the basement level.  

A Code for Sustainable Homes Pre-Assessment Report has been submitted which 
demonstrates that the dwelling would achieve a code 5 rating in all area, except for fabric 
efficiency.  This is due to the large areas of glazing.

The proposal includes a detailed landscaped scheme which has been prepared by a 
landscape architect.  Although the landscaping scheme encompasses the whole site, its 
significant elements enclose the pond were a formal lawn and gardens would be created.   An 
extensive stone surface decked area would extend between the house and the pond.  The 
landscape proposals also include forming a path from the garden to the restored ice house.

The proposal includes the submission of a woodland management plan for Bamford Wood 
which is characterised by predominantly deciduous trees with species including sycamore, 
beech, oak, elder and holly.  The management plan aims to maximise the biodiversity of the 
site, encourage species movement, to enhance the visual amenity, to provide naturally 
regenerating trees, shrubs and ground flora and to remove the invasive species.  

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP)
G/D/2 Green Belt
D/4 Control of Development in Green Belt - General

G/H/1 Housing 



H/3 Residential Developments Outside Allocated Areas
H/5 Residential Density
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development 

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/4 Diversification of the Rural Economy

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 New Development - Accessibility Hierarchy 
A/3 New Development - Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/9 New Development - Access for General Traffic 
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development - Transport Assessments

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/7 Street Furniture and the Public Realm
BE/8 Landscaping in New Development 

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage 
BE/11 Protection of Locally Important Buildings and Features of Architectural and 

Historic Interest  

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/3 Noise and New Development 
EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development 

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological / Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement 
NE/7 Tree Preservation Orders 
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows. 
NE/9 Protection of Woodlands 

Supplementary Planning Documents
Biodiversity and Development (SPD)
Energy and New Development (SPD)
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development (SPG)

SITE HISTORY
No relevant history.  

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering – Raise no objection.



United Utilities – No comment.

Environmental Health (Contamination) – Raise no objections 

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – Raise no objections to the proposal and offer the 
following advice: - 

 The proposed development site is adjacent to a Grade A Site of Biological Importance 
(Naden Brook SBI). The woodland is recorded in the Ancient Woodland Inventory 
(Natural England).  The SBI should be protected from the development by way of 
temporary fencing.  

 An active badger sett was identified within the woodland (Naden Brook SBI) to the 
west of the site.  On checking the Greater Manchester Local Record Centre database 
there is also a record of a badger sett to the east of the site which is located to the 
north of the track.  Badgers and their setts are protected under the Badger Protection 
Act 1992, and therefore it is recommended a condition is imposed which requires a 
badger protection management plan to be submitted.  

 The proposed development plans include the loss of several young and semi-mature 
trees, together with vegetation clearance.  The trees and shrubs have the potential to 
support nesting birds. It is therefore recommended that works to trees and vegetation 
clearance should not be undertaken in the main bird breeding season (March to July 
inclusive), unless nesting birds are found to be absent, by a suitably qualified person.  

 All trees to be retained on the site should be protected from the development to 
prevent damage to the root system.     

 Large amounts of the invasive Himalayan Balsam was noted within the woodland to 
the west of the site, a small stand of new shoots were also present in the south-west 
corner of the site.  A small stand of the invasive Japanese knotweed was also noted in 
the woodland to the west of the site.  It is recommended that a condition is imposed 
which requires a methodology for the control of invasive species be submitted to and 
agreed by the council. 

  Artificial lighting can affect the feeding and commuting behaviour of bats.  Bats will use 
the woodland edge and the woodland for commuting and foraging.  We would 
therefore recommend that any lighting (during construction and post development) be 
directed away from the woodland to the west of the site and any of the retained trees.  

 In line with Section 11 of the NPPF, we would recommend that opportunities for 
biodiversity enhancement be incorporated into the new development.  

Green Infrastructure Officer: – No objections 

Coal Authority: – It is confirmed that the site lies falls within the defined Development High 
Risk Area and therefore it has been advised that it is necessary to submit a Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment Report.  This report has been prepared and is currently being assessment by the 
Coal Authority.  The final comments of the Coal Authority will be reported verbally to Members. 



Environmental Health (Contamination): - No objections. 

Campaign to Protect Rural England: - Having reviewed the details of the planning 
application we fail to see that in reality the proposal would be a project of exceptional quality or 
particularly innovative design for a dwelling.  The proposal would not necessarily raise the 
standards of design in this part of Rochdale, nor enhance its immediate setting.  In our view it 
is not sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area. The decision on this application 
will act as a precedent for future applications in land predominantly open in character, 
comprising both agricultural land and woodland.  

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service: – Raise no objection and request a 
condition is imposed which requires the submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation

Forestry Commission: – No objections 

Prior to the application being submitted Places Matter! were consulted as part of a Design 
Review.  Design Review is a respected method of improving the quality of new development 
by offering constructive, impartial and expert advice. A Places Matter! Design Review consists 
of a panel of respected built environment professionals providing expertise from a range of 
fields including: Development, Architecture, Engineering, Planning, Landscape Architecture, 
Urban Design, Public Art and local planning
.
The response from the Places Matter! Design Review is summarised below: - 

 We feel that this is now the opportunity to step back and redraw the red line around 
not just the one acre site being built on by your client, but the much wider site of the 
hillside and dell down to the river's edge.

 You have given us a very compelling story telling about the historic growth of the 
area and the way the original landowners developed it and the ethos out of which it 
was developed. We would recommend that in order to enhance this story you 
include a landscape architect experienced with historic projects to work with you to 
strengthen the overall plan for this proposal as it is that overall context which is so 
important.

 We would encourage you to stress the community benefit the restored landscape 
will have and further to explain how this development will relate to the estate pieces 
that still exist such as the walls, the routes and the history. This will strengthen the 
case for this development drawing people into the countryside and helping them to 
understand the history of the area.

 We welcome a modern intervention in this landscape and as we all know in the 
Greenbelt this must be of exceptional design. By creating a building within an 
historic landscape and explaining how this is a part of that it will be a much stronger 
scheme.

 There should be a very strong, clear strategy developed within the design possibly 
incorporating the historic icehouse.

In response to the comments made by the Places Matter! Design review team, the 
architect refined the scheme and the amendments are described below: - 

REPRESENTATIONS

The adjacent and adjoining properties have been notified, a site notice has been posted and 
the application has been advertised in the local press. 24 letters of objection have been 
received and the grounds of objection are summarised below followed by Officers response:



 The approach to the proposed dwelling is by a private driveway which leads into a 
blind bend on a single track.  There are concerns here of possible congestion and 
safety issues.

Officer Response.  The proposed access to the dwelling would be via a private access 
road which extends from Bury and Rochdale Old Road. The Councils Highways Officer 
has not raised any objections to the proposal and it is considered that the development 
would provide a safe and convenient access.  

 The building is certainly extraordinary.   The applicant is relying on Paragraph 55 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework to support his application, which states that such 
designs should be outstanding or innovative and should help to raise the standards of 
design in rural areas.  However, in my estimation the site is too small.  Buildings of this 
design should be in settings that complement the uniqueness of the architecture and 
also the size of the building.  

Officer Response.  Although the proposed dwelling is large it would lie within a 
spacious plot which would contain a large garden which revolves around the restored 
pond.  It is considered that the size of the dwelling is compatible with the site and 
would not appear to overwhelm it.   

 The proposed eco-type building is of modern design and therefore totally inappropriate 
for this small community which contains historic cottages and outbuildings.

Officer Response. The design approach taken of the house reflects the 
Picturesque/Palladian villa movement where elegant and fine houses of substance 
were set in a naturalistic landscape.  It is considered that design of the house would be 
exceptional and it would enhance the visual qualities of this historic parkland setting. 

 The Green Belt is still sacrosanct and should therefore not be being built on.

Officer Response. The in principle harm to the Green Belt from development which is 
deemed to be ‘inappropriate’ and the harm to the openness of the Green Belt from the 
proposals are outweighed by the compliance of the scheme with Paragraph 55 of the 
NPPF, which comprise the very special circumstances which are necessarily 
demonstrated in this case for the development to proceed.

 There have been no consultations with those people who will be affected by this 
application.

Officer response.  In accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 the adjacent and adjoining properties 
have been notified, a site notice has been posted and the application has been 
advertised in the local press.

 The proposed building could affect the archaic system of drainage and sewage in this 
area which would have a serious impact on this small community.  



Officer Response.  Planning conditions are recommended which require details of the 
drainage scheme for the site to be first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

 Over the years I have seen Bamford become more and built up and I am worried that it 
may set a precedent for more developments in the green belt.

Officer Response. To meet the policy tests as set out within Paragraph 55 of the NPPF 
it is necessary for the dwelling to be of exceptional design.  It is the case that in the 
vast majority of cases the requirements of paragraph 55 would not be met. It is not 
considered that by approving the scheme would set a precedent. 

 I believe that the scale of the project is overbearing to its site and adjacent dwellings. I 
read that the building references a Palladian villa. Apart from the use of symmetry, any 
reference is very well hidden and I fail to see the large enveloping gardens that would 
always accompany such a villa.

Officer Response.  As set out elsewhere within this report it is not considered that the 
proposed dwelling would be an overbearing feature and design of the house is 
considered to be exceptional. 

 The submitted drawings give no clear indications of dimensions, but it is fair to say that 
the drawings represent a very large house which is out of scale with adjacent buildings.

Officer response. As stated previously it is considered that the size of the dwelling is 
compatible with the site and would not appear to overwhelm it or any of the nearby 
dwellings.   

 This land was, until summer 2014, a beautiful piece of meadowland with 7 mature 
trees including lime and beech, and a healthy pond .It was home to and supported a 
diverse flora and fauna including moor hens, ducks, geese, bats, hedgehogs, deer and 
badgers. In summer 2014, the land was systematically cleared, trees chopped down, 
shrubs removed and the pond dredged and contents dumped on the surrounding land.

Officer Response.  Any clearance of any of landscape features within the site and the 
dredging of the pond are not subject to planning control. 

 The current level of amenity afforded by the local properties occupied by the local 
residents will inevitably be diminished as a result of the construction and use of the 
dwelling of this foreign nature.

Officer Response. The design and the position of the proposed dwelling would ensure 
that the development maintains satisfactorily levels of privacy and amenity between the 
proposed dwelling and the uses which adjoin the site. 

 The loss of openness, which is contrary to National & Local Planning Green Belt 
Policies, will be compounded by the introduction of a modern type structure which will 
be totally foreign to the area.

Officer Response. The harm to the openness of the Green Belt from the proposal is 
outweighed by the compliance of the scheme with Paragraph 55 of the NPPF, which 



comprise the very special circumstances which are necessarily demonstrated in this 
case for the development to proceed.

 The ecological survey in support of the application comments that it is likely that 
badgers are absent from the site. However the occupiers of Bamford Hall Lodge have 
confirmed that badgers inhabit setts located within the woodland adjoining the south-
western corner of the application site. It is also understood that badgers forage across 
the application site.

Officer Response. The submitted Ecological Appraisal identified that an active badger 
sett was identified within the woodland (Naden Brook SBI) to the west of the site.   The 
Greater Manchester Local Record Centre database identifies a record of a badger sett 
to the east of the site.  Badgers and their setts are protected under the Badger 
Protection Act 1992, and following consultation advice from the Greater Manchester 
Ecology Unit (GMEU) a condition is recommended which requires a badger protection 
management plan to be submitted prior to any development commencing.  

 The building will badly affect Garden Cottage and the open aspect it gives to the Green 
Belt.

Officer Response. The separation distance between the proposed house and side 
elevation of Garden Cottage, accords with the Councils recommended residential 
spacing standards and therefore there would be no adverse harm to residential 
amenity.

 This building will certainly not enhance the landscape, and will also adversely affect the 
character of the landscape.

Officer Response. The proposed new home would secure the restoration of 
several heritage features such as the pond, the ice house and the woodland. 
The positive benefits of the proposal would help to enhance and protect this 
historic landscape.

 This is not in substance a truly innovative design, in fact I do not find anything about it 
that can be described as truly innovative.

Officer Response. Proving innovation is difficult as it requires constant raising of the 
bar. Done once, by definition, it cannot be replicated.  In this particular case it is not 
considered that any single part of the scheme can be deemed to be ‘ground breaking’ 
and therefore it is not truly innovative.  However it is considered that the dwelling is 
outstanding due to its exceptional design quality, which is reflected through its 
integration within existing and proposed landscapes and its sensitive consideration of 
the need to restore this historic landscape.

 The submitted Ecological Appraisal, the Woodland Management Plan, the 
Arboricultural Report and the Heritage Appraisal combine to give the impression that 
the applicant is concerned about environmental issues, that he plans to look after the 
woodland, that he plans to preserve and care for any historical structures, yet he has 
owned the land for years and done nothing when he could have done before now if he 
really did care.

Officer Response. One of the key elements of the proposed scheme is that it seeks to 
restore the sites heritage assets and the resulting development would successfully 
restore this historic country parkland estate.  In order to ensure that the restoration 
works are carried out appropriately and concurrently with the construction of the house, 
suitable planning conditions are recommended.



 With regards to sustainable development, in related case in 2012 a Planning Inspector 
dismissed an appeal for the residential conversion of an agricultural building because it 
did not constitute sustainable development and fundamentally undermined the aims of  
the NPPF (Durham 27/12/12 DCS No 100-080-374).

Officer Response. Although the application lies within a rural location, it lies within a 
short walk of Bury and Rochdale Old Road, which is served by a local bus service.  In 
this instance it is considered that the site lies within a sustainable location.

 Other than containing the original pond, the actual red-edged development site offers 
little or no historic merit as the application would appear to be implying to gain support 
for the planning application.  The suggestion that the development will help to preserve 
the various heritage assets is tenuous at best.  As such there are no immediate or 
wider public benefits to allowing development at this suite. 

Officer Response. The site is considered to be of significant heritage value, 
particularly for its historic association with the Fenton family, the evidential 
value of the archaeology and retained historic features on the site and the 
aesthetic value of the designed landscape and woodland setting. The 
proposed new home would secure the restoration of several heritage features 
such as the pond, the ice house and the woodland. The positive benefits of the 
proposal would help to enhance and protect the heritage significance of the 
site in the long term.

The application has also received 18 letters of support which are summarised below. 

 The design is both eco and grand in it's design and will be an engineering marvel. 

 The benefits associated with scheme involve restoring many historic features such as 
the ice house which would be looked after for many years to come.  Without this 
proposal the sites historic features would fall into disrepair and eventually disappear 
like many other of our historical sites.

 A single home is a small price to pay to bring this site back to life. 

 The land is currently lying dormant and will continue to do so. I feel the property will 
nestle comfortably within the landscape.

 The plans illustrate a very interesting, innovative and contemporary design, which 
define a well-considered architectural aspect with an extraordinary level of homely 
practicality.

 The proposal would help to restore this beautiful landscape.  

 I must stress that I feel the protection of wildlife and general environment around 
seems to be being taken very seriously which surely should be commended and I 
cannot understand why there is any objection from those who do not even live in the 
vicinity.



 The design is such that I am certain it could feature on Grand Designs. It would be 
fantastic to achieve some positive publicity for Rochdale and its surrounding area 
instead of all the negative comments we seem to be continually subjected to.

 It is an eco-friendly build, on family owned land, settled within fields away from the 
main road and if anything, would seem to propose enhancing this area of land.

 The idea of preserving the Ice House is a lovely one, not to mention the wildlife - whole 
heartedly give it my support.

 From what I can understand it is going to be barely visible, will not affect the 
surrounding areas, will actually protect local wildlife and reclaim and restore a piece of 
history.

ANALYSIS

The principle of the development having regard to Green Belt policy

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the fundamental aim of Green 
Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. The purposes of 
Green Belt are:

 to check unrestricted sprawl; 
 prevent neighbouring towns merging; 
 assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
 preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; 
 assist in urban regeneration.  

The NPPF states that, except in very special circumstances, there will be a presumption 
against inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  The categories of development which 
are appropriate in the Green Belt are:

 agriculture and forestry;
 essential facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, for cemeteries, and for 

other uses of land which preserve the openness of the Green Belt and which do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land in it;

 limited extension, alteration or replacement of existing dwellings;
limited infilling in existing villages, and limited affordable housing for local community 
needs;

 limited infilling or redevelopment of major existing developed sites identified in adopted 
local plans.  

The erection of a dwelling does not come within any of the categories of appropriate 
development set out in the NPPF, the advice in which is carried through to in Policies G/D/2 
and D/4 of the adopted UDP; albeit this refers to PPG2: Green Belts which preceded the 
NPPF, but the thrust of which is fundamentally the same. Accordingly the proposed dwelling 
represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt.   As the NPPF makes clear, 
inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt by reason of its 
inappropriateness.  Additionally, it is clear that due to its position and design the dwelling 
would involve a loss of openness of the Green Belt. The NPPF at Paragraph 88 makes it clear 
that very special circumstances to justify such development will not exist unless the harm by 
reason of its inappropriateness and any other harm are clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.  



Visual Impact

The area is characterised by a rural landscape which is set within a historic parkland setting 
boarded by ancient woodlands which extend along the Naden Brook Valley.  In the immediate 
vicinity of the site lies Bamford Wood to the west while the land to the north is open. To the 
east lies two residential properties which were once stables.  To the south lies a private 
driveway which extends from Bury and Rochdale Old Road.  There are no public rights of way 
within the vicinity of the site.  

It is considered the most sensitive views of the site would be from the open field to the north 
and from the existing private driveway which extends along the southern boundary.  The site is 
also visible from an adjoining property which is known as Garden Cottage. From many of the 
near vantage points the dwelling would be masked to some degree by the adjoining and 
nearby woodlands.  Nevertheless by reason of its size and scale the proposed dwelling would 
no doubt be a noticeable feature within this historic parkland setting.  

Although the dwelling is large, it would be set within a spacious plot and it is largely single 
storey. Its curved façade and its flat roof helps to reduce its prominence within the landscape. 
It is considered that the dwelling by reason of its size and scale would not be an overly 
prominent feature within the landscape.  From further away, the dwelling, would be viewed 
against the backdrop of the adjoining mature woodland.   

Although the proposed dwelling would not appear as an overly prominent feature within the 
landscape and it would be partially screened by nearby manmade and natural features, it is 
clear that by reason of its position, size and scale it would have an impact on the openness of 
the Green Belt. The fact that the visual impact of the dwelling would be reduced by the 
characteristics the existing landscape does not in itself comprise a very special circumstance 
to justify inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

Very Special Circumstances
 
A Court of Appeal judgement in Redhill Aerodrome Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities 
and Local Government establishes that ‘any other harm’ in paragraph 88 of the NPPF (i.e. 
non-Green Belt harm) can be taken into account in the weighing exercise of the planning 
balance as to determining whether or not very special circumstances exist which would clearly 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by inappropriateness or any other harm. 

This Court of Appeal judgment is an important reminder that under paragraph 88 of the NPPF, 
when considering any planning application concerning proposed development in the Green 
Belt, local planning authorities should continue to ensure that substantial weight is given to 
any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will only be demonstrated in 
circumstances where the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and 
any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

The proposal that is the subject of the application is considered inappropriate development 
within the Green Belt as defined by the NPPF. Substantial weight therefore needs to be given 
to the potential harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the 
potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

Paragraph 55 of the NPPF provides the planning guidance in relation to the development of 
new ‘isolated dwellings’ in the countryside. It states: ‘To promote sustainable development in 
rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities. For example, where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in 



one village may support services in a village nearby. Local planning authorities should avoid 
new isolated homes in the countryside unless there are special circumstances such as:

 the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the dwelling. 

Such a design should:

 be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of design more generally 
in rural areas;

 reflect the highest standards in architecture;
 significantly enhance its immediate setting; and,
 be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area.’, 

Section 7 of the NPPF also reinforces the commitment to good design as it is stated that, ‘the 
Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is 
seen as a key aspect of sustainable development, it is indivisible from good planning, and 
should contribute positively to making places better for people. When determining 
applications, great weight should be given to outstanding or innovative designs which help 
raise the standard of design generally in the area.

Below, the proposal is assessed against the criteria set out in Paragraph 55 of the NPPF.

Be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of design more generally 
in rural areas

The practical external elements of the proposal, namely the driveway, are sited to the south 
side of the dwelling while the more natural parts of it such as the gardens, the restored pond 
and the newly create pathway to the restored ice house are located on its north side.
The curved form of the house wraps around the historic pond which is likely to have been 
created to serve the original Bamford Hall.   The restored pond would be the external focal 
point of the development and its setting would be enhanced by gardens which would enclose 
it.  The curved form of the house and the way it wraps around the pond, and relates with the 
landscaped gardens and the woodlands, would allow it to integrate successfully with the 
landscape rather than it being the case that it competes with it or overwhelms it.  The view of 
the north facing curved elevation of the dwelling from the gentle slopes of the landscape 
gardens or from the adjoining woodland would be both dramatic and striking. 

It is considered that the restoration of the pond which would be surrounded by landscaped 
gardens, the shape and simple form of the building, the provision of a green roof and the use 
of high quality materials would ensure the development significantly enhances the landscape 
to which it is located.

Proving innovation is difficult as it requires constant raising of the bar. Done once, by 
definition, it cannot be replicated.  In this particular case it is not considered that any single 
part of the scheme can be deemed to be ‘ground breaking’ and therefore it is not truly 
innovative.  However it is considered that the dwelling is outstanding due to its exceptional 
design quality, which is reflected through its integration within the existing and proposed 
landscapes and its sensitive consideration of the need to restore this historic parkland.  

‘reflect the highest standards in architecture’

Although architectural design is always subjective, the high architecture quality of the scheme 
is evidenced by the positive response it has received from Places Matter! Design Review 
Panel who commented that ‘There is tremendous potential to not only create a very exciting 
home but also the opportunity to undertake the important restoration and development of an 
historic landscape feature’.



The design of the proposed house reflects the Picturesque/Palladian villa movement where 
elegant and fine houses of substance were set within a naturalistic landscape.  The design is 
derived from the contrast between the natural landscapes which surround the site and the 
formal and elegant design of the former Bamford Hall which was demolished in the 1950s.  
The design for the proposed house seeks to re-establish the balance between the house and 
the landscape.  

The largely single storey building is designed in a contemporary style with a flat copper clad 
roof and elevations finished in brick, glazing and copper cladding.  The building has a 
symmetrical composition to make aesthetic reference to the classical hall built by the Fentons 
in the 1840s.  The curved form responds to the east and south boundaries of the field with the 
central axis aligned on the corner.  The central 2 storey range of the house would rise above 
the flanking ranges and the use of a flat roof would mean it would not be viewed as an overly 
prominent feature within the landscape.  

The proposal is considered to be a very high quality scheme, taking into account the context 
and setting of the development, and it would raise standards of design.  The simple 
symmetrical composition of the dwelling, its curved form and the use of high quality materials 
would ensure it has a positive relationship with the landscape and its overall design would 
provide a noteworthy addition to the local landscape.  

‘significantly enhance its immediate setting’

The historic designed landscape within this area is a good example of a small country estate 
remodelled in the mid-19th century but altered in the 20th century after the Fentons Hall was 
demolished.  The proposed site has an attractive open character with views over grazed fields 
edged by mature woodlands with the stone edged historic pond as a focal point.  
The proposal includes the restoration of the historic pond which would be a key feature of the 
landscape proposals.  The ice house would be restored and the adjoining Bamford Wood 
would be enhanced through the implementation of a Woodland Management Plan.  The 
curved and simple form of the house together with the proposals to restore the landscape 
would ensure that the development significantly enhances the visually qualities and setting of 
this historic country parkland estate. 

‘be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area’

As stated elsewhere within this report the defining characteristic of this local area is that it is a 
good example of a small parkland estate and it is considered to have significance historical, 
evidential, aesthetic and communal value. Although it should noted that the demolition of the 
1840s hall and the fragmentation of the estate has had a negative impact on the overall 
significance of the place.  

The concept of the scheme is relatively simple, in the sense that it proposes to restore the 
site’s historic features which would be complemented by the creation of new landscape 
gardens and the construction of the new Palladian style house.  It is considered when taken as 
a whole the development would be sensitive to and enhance the characteristics of this 
important landscape.

In summary, whilst architectural design is always subjective, this proposal is clearly of very 
high quality and this would be one of a small number of such properties nationwide which can 
be regarded as being exceptional. In this regard, this house would be an exemplar project for 
Bamford and the wider Borough of Rochdale.  It is considered that the proposal complies with 
paragraph 55 of the NPPF and that the identified in-principle harm caused by inappropriate 
development and any harm to the openness of the Green Belt would be outweighed by the 



benefits of the proposal in providing a dwelling of exceptional design quality which would 
significantly enhance and restore this important country parkland estate. 
It therefore falls to be considered whether ‘any other harm’ (i.e. non-Green Belt harm) would 
weigh in the planning balance against the development such that very special circumstances 
could not be demonstrated. Each of these non-Green Belt issues are discussed below.

Impact on heritage assets

National policy set out at Paragraph 131 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
states, “in determining planning applications, LPAs should take account of: the 
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets… the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness”. Paragraph 135 states that “The effect of an application on the 
significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining 
the application. In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non designated 
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm 
or loss and the significance of the heritage asset”. Similar guidance is also found at policy 
BE/11(Protection of Locally Important Buildings and Features of Architectural and Historic 
Interest) of the adopted UDP.

The site is a good example of a small parkland estate developed in the 19th century by the 
influential Fenton family.  The demolition of the 1840s hall and the fragmentation of the estate 
has had a negative impact on the overall significance of the place, but many historic features 
have been retained.  It is considered that the development would have a positive impact on 
the following non-designated heritage assets:-

 the icehouse;
 the historic pond; 
 the historic planned woodland.

The icehouse is likely to be associated with the original Bamford Old Hall and is a rare 
survivor. It is likely that it is not designated (i.e. listed) only because it has not come to the 
attention of Historic England rather than because it is not worthy of designation. The ice house 
is considered to have high historic and evidential vale and its restoration and repair would 
secure its future. 

The historic pond would have provided water for farm animals grazing in the fields, and also 
for horses from the adjacent stables.  It may also have provided a source of piped water for 
Bamford Hall.  The pond retains stone edgings with large copings.  The pond is illustrative of 
the requirements of country houses to be largely self-sufficient in terms of resources for 
supporting the household and illustrates an historic approach to managing water. The pond is 
considered to have high historic value and it will be a key feature of the landscape setting of 
the new house, with repairs to the stone edging, the inlet and outflow.  
Located adjacent to the site lies Bamford Wood which has high significance as a natural 
woodland in a steep valley setting, with mature deciduous trees, an under storey including 
bluebells and traces of historic woodland walks created in the 19th century.  This wooded 
valley provides an attractive perimeter and the proposal is supported by a Woodland 
Management Plan which covers a 10 year period from 2016-2026.  The implementation of the 
Woodland Management Plan would improve the visual qualities of this historic landscape and 
maximise opportunities for biodiversity improvements.

In summary, the long term management of the woodland and the restoration of the ice house 
and the pond are positive benefits of the proposal which will help to enhance and protect the 
heritage significance of the site in the long-term.  Such positive benefits are given some weight 
in favour of the development.



Impact on the landscape

Policy NE/6 (Landscape Protection and Enhancement) of the adopted UDP states that 
development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area 
will not be permitted. 

The application site is located within a rural location and as mentioned previously, a key 
element of the proposal is that it seeks to restore the planned historic landscape which 
surrounds the proposed house.  The historic pond which lies towards the centre of the site 
would be fully restored and it would be visually enhanced by the creation of a series of 
gardens which fall away from the rear elevation of the dwelling. 

The scheme is supported by a Woodland Management Plan for Bamford Wood which is 
ancient semi natural woodland characterised by deciduous trees with species including 
sycamore, beech, oak, elder and holly.  Throughout the woodland rhododendron is present 
which prohibits natural regeneration and makes access to parts of the woodland impossible.  
The historic paths running through the woodland have also become overgrown.
The woodland management plan covers a 10 year period from 2016-2026 and its key 
objectives are summarised below: - 

 Maximising the biodiversity of the site.
 Ensuring that species present on the site are protected and connectivity is maximised. 
 To maintain and enhance the visual amenity of the woodland as a feature within the local 

landscape. 
 To provide a habitat of naturally regenerating native/naturalised trees, shrubs and ground 

flora. 
 To remove invasive species. The removal of the invasive species would allow the original 

paths to be regenerated without the need for resurfacing. 

The proposed development plans include the loss of several young and semi-mature trees, 
together with necessary vegetation clearance. The majority of the trees to be removed are a 
mixed group which lie close to the eastern boundary.   Although the loss of trees from the site 
is regrettable, this would be offset by the enhancements to Bamford Wood which include 
enhancing the quality and diversity of the tree population and ground flora.  
In summary, it is considered that the creation of the landscaped gardens together with the 
management of the adjacent Bamford Wood would improve the visual qualities of this planned 
historic landscape and maximise opportunities for biodiversity improvements.  The proposal is 
therefore in accordance with policy NE/6 as well as the advice contained in the NPPF.

Ecological Implications

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles:



 if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on an 
alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

 opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas which are not specially designated for their nature 
conservation value, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats 
of ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should 
seek to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would 
place an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory 
features or habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type 
of development permitted may be required. 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that:

 There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
 Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where required, 

adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current levels of the 
population of the species; and

 Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate criteria 
for development as set out in National and European legislation.

The development lies adjacent to a Site of Biological Importance (Naden Brook SBI) and the 
woodland surrounding Naden Brook is recorded in the Ancient Woodland Inventory (Natural 
England).  In order to ensure the woodland and Naden Brook is protected from the 
development temporary fencing would be erected.   

The submitted Ecological Appraisal identified that an active badger sett is located within the 
woodland to the west of the site.   The Greater Manchester Local Record Centre database 
identifies a record of a badger sett to the east of the site.  Badgers and their setts are 
protected under the Badger Protection Act 1992, and following consultation advice from the 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) a condition is recommended which requires a 
badger protection management plan to be submitted prior to any development commencing.  
The majority of the  trees on the site have the potential to support nesting birds and therefore 
a condition is recommended which requires that no works to trees and vegetation clearance 
should not be undertaken in the main bird breeding season (March to July inclusive), unless 
nesting birds are found to be absent, by a suitably qualified person.  In addition a condition is 
recommended that requires all trees to be retained on the site be protected from the 
development to prevent damage to the root system.     

Large amounts of the invasive Himalayan Balsam is located was noted within Bamford Wood 
and a small stand of new shoots were also present in the south-west corner of the site.  A 
small stand of the invasive Japanese knotweed is also located within Bamford Wood.  It is 
recommended that a condition is imposed which requires a methodology for the control of 
invasive species be submitted to and agreed by the council. 

In summary, it is accepted that the submitted ecological appraisal has demonstrated that, in 
principle, the proposed development would not harm ecological interests.   The Greater 
Manchester Ecological Unit have not raised an objection to the proposal and the development 
offers the opportunity for the enhancement of biodiversity within the site and beyond from the 
introduction of the woodland management plan.  Satisfactory precautionary measures can be 
put in place to ensure that the development would not adversely affect the nature conservation 
value of the site or the favourable conservation status of any protected species. The proposed 



development is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and 
NE/8, and the NPPF.

Proposed Access Arrangements

The proposed access into the site would be via the private driveway which extends 
from Bury and Rochdale Old Road.  The private driveway currently serves 4 
dwellings.  The proposed dwelling would be served by a large driveway which 
extends across the front elevation of the house and access to it would be from the 
existing opening which lies in the south west corner of the site. Egress would be taken 
from a new opening which would lie in the south east facing corner of the site.  An 
access ramp would be formed within the driveway which would provide access to the 
basement garage.  

Policy A/8 of the adopted UDP seeks to ensure that new development does not have 
a detrimental impact on the existing highway network in respect of safety of existing 
highway network (particularly pedestrians and disabled people), the environmental 
impact on residential properties adjacent to the highway network, or substantially 
increase congestion. Policy A/9 seeks to ensure safe and convenient access for 
general traffic (cars, motorbikes and commercial vehicles) by making certain road 
junctions are suitable for the volumes and characteristics of traffic that use them. In 
addition, paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are 
severe.

The Councils Highways Officer has raised no objections to the proposal and it is considered 
that the existing private driveway is suitable to provide access to the dwelling and the marginal 
increase in traffic using it would not itself considered to cause any over-riding harm to highway 
safety. Accordingly, there would no material adverse effects in transportation terms 
which would justify a refusal of planning permission.

Privacy and amenity of Neighbours

Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings and one of the 12 core planning principles of 
the NPPF is to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings.  

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations.
The only dwelling which would overlook the site is Garden Cottage which lies to the east.  
Garden Cottage is a converted stable and its facing side elevation contains several window 
openings which would lie 20.5 m from north east facing corner of the proposed dwelling.  This 
section of the proposed dwellings is single storey and it contains several windows which would 
serve a bathroom, a dressing room and corridor. No principle windows within the dwelling 
would face towards Garden Cottage. 

In terms of the separation distance between the proposed house and side elevation of Garden 
Cottage, it accords with the Councils recommended residential spacing standards and 
therefore there would be no adverse impact on residential amenity.

The environment in which the occupiers of  Garden Cottage would find themselves following 
the development of the site would undoubtedly change. This is not disputed. However, a 
change in the environment around a property is not a reason to refuse planning permission 



and it has to be considered whether there would significant and ongoing detriment to 
residential amenity from the proposals.  As stated above the proposal would adhere to the 
Councils residential spacing standards and it is not considered there would be adverse impact 
to residential amenity. 

It is also acknowledged that there would be some disruption during the construction process. 
This is unavoidable and is a necessary, albeit temporary effect of any development proposal. 
A condition is included within the recommendation which requires a Construction Management 
Plan to be submitted which can further control construction activity (for example by restricting 
the hours during which it can take place) to ensure that any impact on residential amenity is 
not unduly severe. On this basis, it is considered that construction impacts would not be a 
sustainable or justifiable reason to refuse planning permission. 

In summary the design and the position of the proposed dwelling would ensure that the 
development maintains satisfactorily levels of privacy and amenity between the proposed 
dwelling and the uses which adjoin the site.  Therefore the development is in accordance with 
the requirements of UDP policies H/3, EM/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Procedural matters

Given that the proposed development represents 'inappropriate development' it is necessary 
to consider whether it needs to be referred to the Secretary of State for a final decision. The 
Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 requires inappropriate 
development on land allocated as Green Belt in the Development Plan Document which 
comprises either:

1. the provision of over 1000m² of floorspace or development; or
2. any other development, which by reason of its scale or nature or location, 

would have a significant impact on the openness of the Green Belt.

The development comprises inappropriate development in the Green Belt and includes the 
provision of buildings where the floor space to be created by the development is 1000sqm or 
more. Under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009, where 
the Local Planning Authority does not propose to refuse an application for planning permission 
for this type of development, the Secretary of State must be consulted.

Balancing and overall conclusions

A series of very special circumstances exist which outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness. These very special circumstances include:

i. The Design Quality of the House

The proposed house is of an exceptional design quality and it accords with criteria set out in 
paragraph 55 of the NPPF. In addition the scheme has been reviewed by Places Matter! which 
consider that ‘…there is tremendous potential to not only create a very exciting home but also 
the opportunity to undertake the important restoration and development of an historic 
landscape feature’

ii. The restoration and enhancement of this historic landscape. 

The site is considered to be of significant heritage value, particularly for its historic 
association with the Fenton family, the evidential value of the archaeology, the 
retained historic features and the aesthetic value of the designed landscape and 
woodland setting. The development would secure the restoration of several heritage 



assets and the overall impact of the development would significantly improve this 
historical parkland estate. The positive benefits of the proposal in restoring and 
enhancing this historic parkland estate should be given substantial weight in the 
determination of the application. 
The merits of the proposal set against the requirements of the NPPF and the adopted UDP 
make this particular case an exceptional development that warrants support. The in principle 
harm to the Green Belt from development which is deemed to be ‘inappropriate’ and the harm 
to the openness of the Green Belt from the proposals are outweighed by the compliance of the 
scheme with Paragraph 55 of the NPPF, and the benefits to non-designated heritage assets 
which comprise the very special circumstances which are required to be demonstrated for the 
development to proceed. No other material harm outside the Green Belt has been identified to 
landscape, ecology, residential amenity, transportation or any other material planning matter 
which could not be mitigated through the use of suitable planning conditions and would weigh 
against the development. The application is therefore recommended for approval. 

RECOMMENDATION

(i) That Members resolve that they would be minded to GRANT planning permission for 
the development and that the application be deferred and delegated to the Head of 
Planning for referral to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
for his consideration as to whether the application should be called in for his own 
determination under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 
2009; and 

(ii) That on referral to the Secretary of State he be informed of the resolution of the Local 
Planning Authority to grant planning permission and that the grant of planning 
permission would be subject to the following conditions [substantially in this form]:-

Conditions

 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

 2 The permission relates to the following plans:-

Drawing No. 01 - Location Plan 
Drawing No. 02 - Site Plan as Existing 
Drawing No. 03 - Site Plan as Proposed Scheme SK02 
Drawing No. 03 - Plans as Proposed SK02 
Drawing No. 06 - Elevations as Proposed Sk02 
Drawing No. 07  - Elevations as Proposed SK02 
Drawing No. 08  - Plan as Proposed Sk02 
Drawing No. 09  - Site Location Plan
Drawing No. 10 - Rood Plan 
Drawing No. SR694.1A - Landscape Proposals 

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved. 

Reason.  For the avoidance of any doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with policies of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.



 3 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until samples or 
full details of materials to be used externally on the building have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the 
type, colour and texture of the materials. Only the materials so approved shall be used, 
in accordance with any terms of such approval.

Reason: In the interests of protecting both the character and appearance of the 
building and the area within which the site is located, in accordance with policies BE/2, 
H/3 of the Council's Unitary Development Plan as well as the NPPF.

 4 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until details of 
all windows and doors (including their materials, finishes, recesses and opening 
profile) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The windows and doors shall be installed in accordance with the duly 
approved details before the dwelling hereby approved is first occupied and shall be 
retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 
character of the site and its surroundings in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policy BE/2, H/3 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

 5 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until details of 
all rainwater goods including method of support, design and surface finish has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and retained as such 
thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of protecting both the character and appearance of the 
building and the area within which the site is located, in accordance with policies BE/2, 
H/3 of the Council's Unitary Development Plan as well as the NPPF.

 6 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission,  no above ground works shall take place until details of 
the siting, height, design, materials and finish of the boundary treatments has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The duly 
approved boundary treatments shall be constructed in full accordance with the 
approved details before the dwelling is first occupied, and shall be retained as such 
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policy BE/2 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

 7 Details of finished floor levels and external ground levels shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any above ground works 
take place. The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the 
duly approved details.

Reason:  In order to ensure a satisfactory relationship between the new dwelling and 
between the development and surrounding buildings in the interests of residential and 
visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
Policy BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework.



 8 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until a 
specification for the design and construction of the driveway, including provision for the 
drainage of surface water from it, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The driveway  shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved details before the dwelling is first occupied, and retained thereafter for the 
parking of vehicles.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenities and to ensure the suitable disposal of 
surface water in order to comply with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies BE/2 and A/10, and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 9 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D E, F, G and H 
of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015, or any equivalent Order following the amendment, revocation or re-enactment 
thereof no development shall take place at the dwelling hereby permitted under 
Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of that Order.

Reason: The Local Planning Authority considers it expedient, having regard to the 
design and appearance of the development, to regulate any future 
alterations/extensions, in accordance with policies BE/2, H/3 and D/4 of the Council's 
Unitary Development Plan as well as the NPPF.

10 No above ground works shall take place until full details of the solar panels to be 
installed, including method of support, design and projection has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved solar panels 
shall be installed in accordance with the approved scheme, prior to the first occupation 
of the dwelling hereby approved, and retained thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and makes efficient use of 
energy in accordance with Policy EM/13 of the Council's Unitary Development Plan 
and the Council's: Energy and New Development Supplementary Planning Document 
as well as the NPPF.

11 The development hereby permitted shall not take place until a scheme to regulate 
surface water run-off has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the first 
occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, and it shall be maintained thereafter.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and ensure future maintenance of 
the surface water drainage system in order to comply with Unitary Development Plan 
EM/7 and the NPPF.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works, 
these details are required prior to commencement of any building or engineering works 
on site.

12 No development shall take place until details of the means of foul water disposal have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
details, as approved, shall be implemented in full before the development hereby 
permitted is first brought into use. 

Reason.  To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of the 
water environment in accordance with Policies EM/7 and EM/8 of the Council's Unitary 
Development Plan and the NPPF.



Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works, 
these details are required prior to commencement of any building or engineering works 
on site.

13 On the date the development first takes place the Woodland Management Plan for 
Bamford Wood as prepared by Urban Green (dated June 2015) shall be implemented 
in accordance with the details and any phasing/timescales contained within it.  The 
plan shall continue to be  to be implemented thereafter unless an alternative Woodland 
Management Plan has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason:  In order to preserve, restore and maintain Bamford Wood  and to achieve 
appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements as part of the development in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/8 and NE/9 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

14 No development shall take place until a scheme to provide temporary protective 
fencing or other means of enclosure around the boundary of the site with Bamford 
Wood has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The fence 
or other means of enclosure shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
details before any development takes place and it shall be retained throughout the 
construction period until the development has been completed.  

Reason: In order to protect the adjoining land from damage and pollution during 
construction, in accordance with Policies NE/2 and NE/6 of the Unitary Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works it is necessary to protect Bamford Wood before the development 
commences.

15 The approved landscaping scheme detailed on drawing SR694.1A (Dated 1.7.2015) 
shall be carried out during the first planting season after the development is 
substantially completed and the areas which are landscaped shall be retained as 
landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely 
damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting shall be 
replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to 
be planted.

Reason: In order to achieve satisfactory treatment of open spaces between and 
around building in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the requirements 
of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and BE/8 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

16 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place during the above period until a 
methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nest site 
protection shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the duly approved 
methodology.



Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 
Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

17 No development shall take place until a scheme of works, which shall include a 
detailed method statement, for the control and disposal of invasive plant species has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed 
scheme of works and method statement shall be implemented in full throughout the 
course of the development.

Reason: To secure the satisfactory disposal of invasive species of plant, which under 
the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended, it is an offence to be 
caused to spread in the wild, in accordance with the general principles of Policy NE/3 
of the Council's Unitary Development Plan.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure an appropriate scheme to control 
the spread is implemented on commencement and throughout the construction 
process.

18 No above ground works shall take place until a method statement and specification for 
the necessary repair works to the exterior and interior of the ice house has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   The works shall 
be carried out in accordance with the duly approved details before the dwelling hereby 
approved is first occupied.

Reason: In order to ensure that the repair works are sympathetic to the character of 
the building and in the interests of visual amenity and to preserve and enhance this 
non designated heritage asset  in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan Policies BE/2 and BE/11 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

19 No above ground works shall take place until a method statement and specification for 
the necessary repair works to the historic pond  has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.   The works shall be carried out in accordance 
with the duly approved details before the dwelling hereby approved is first occupied.

Reason: In order to ensure that the repair works are sympathetic to the character and 
appearance of the pond and to preserve and enhance this non designated heritage 
asset  in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/2 
and BE/11  and the National Planning Policy Framework.

20 No external lighting shall be installed on the house or elsewhere on the site unless a 
scheme for such lighting has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details and retained as such thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason. In the interest of visual amenities and in order to prevent habitat disturbance 
in accordance with policies BE/2, BE/18, NE/3 and NE/4  of the Council's Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

21 No development shall first take place until a badger protection management plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
badger protection management plan shall be adhered to throughout the entirety of the 
construction works and it shall confirm: -



 No use of very heavy machinery (general tracked vehicles) within 30 metres of 
any entrance to an active sett;

 No use of lighter machinery (generally wheeled vehicles), particularly for any 
digging operation, within 20 metres;

 Construction activity should be limited to hand digging or scrub clearance within 
10 metres;

 The use of noisy plant and machinery in the vicinity of the protection zone should 
be minimised 2 hours before sunset;

 Security lighting should be directed away from setts;
 Chemicals should be stored as far away from the setts and badger paths as 

possible;
 Where possible, deep trenches must be covered at the end of the working day, or 

include a means of escape;
 Any pipe system which is left open for a significant period of time should be 

capped in such a way as to prevent badgers gaining access. 
 Trees should be felled away from setts and must not block badger paths. 

Reason: In the interest of species protection, in accordance with the requirements of 
policy NE/4 of the UDP and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works it is necessary to ensure the protection of the adjacent badger sett. 

22 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: - (i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials 
and construction; (ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; (iii) loading 
and unloading of plant and materials; (iv) storage of plant and materials used in 
constructing the development; (v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(vi) wheel washing facilities; (vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt 
during construction; and (viii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
construction works.

The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 
nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works an understanding will therefore be necessary of what measures will 
be put in place to protect the amenity of nearby residents, prior to commencement of 
any building or engineering works on site.

Report Author Paul Ambrose

_____________________________________________________



Application Number: 15/01181/WTTPO    Ward: Castleton      

Proposal: Application to remove 11 trees within areas A1, A3, A4 and A8 of Tree 
Preservation Order No. 042

Site Address: Rochdale And District Angling Society Trows Lane Rochdale OL11 2UE 

Applicant: Mr Robert Smith
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

This application seeks consent to fell eleven trees which are all subject to a Tree Preservation 
Order (“TPO”). Members may grant unconditional or conditional consent or may refuse the 
application for consent. 

DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL

The application relates to a total of eleven trees, all of which are located within a wooded area 
off Trows Lane, Rochdale. The trees are all protected by Tree Preservation Order 42 which 
was created in 1978, and this covers all of the trees in the vicinity. The application has been 
submitted by Rochdale and District Angling Society and proposes to fell all eleven trees.

The trees are protected by a group TPO with one of the trees (Turkey Oak) being within Group 
A1. This tree is located adjacent to the west of the reservoir which lies to the south east of the 
dwellings known as “The Grange”, “Thornton House” and “The Nest”. 



Three of the trees (Sycamore, Ash and Willow) are within Group A3, which is to the east of 
Trow Upper Works and north of the M62 Motorway. 

One Sycamore tree is within Group A4 and lies just to the northeast of Trow Upper Works and 
to the south of “The Grange”. 

The remaining six trees are found within Group A8 and lie adjacent to the northern and 
eastern perimeter of the reservoir which is situated adjacent to the east of Trows Mill. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Green Infrastructure Development Officer – has no objection to the works proposed in this 
application. Each of the removals is justified and in line with their findings at the site visit that 
was undertaken. The works are likely to improve the long term viability of this TPO. Request at 
least 22 trees replanted within the area, species and exact location to be decided with the 
applicant at the appropriate time. 

ANALYSIS

The applicant has submitted a supporting statement alongside the application which details 
the justification for the felling of the eleven trees and is summarised as follows:

 Group A1: The (Turkey Oak) tree overhangs two footpaths and displays significant cavities 
and large dead branches within the canopy and is likely to become hazardous due to 
these defects.

 Group A3: The Sycamore and Ash tree lie on the path between the two lodges. Both are in 
decline (particularly the Ash) and are causing significant damage to the retaining wall of 
the lodges. The Willow tree is leaning over the stream feeding the lodge. This tree is in 
decline and likely to fail and block the stream. As discussed with the Green Infrastructure 
Development Officer, this tree could be felled from 2 metres or so high, making it safe but 
leaving the remaining stump as a standing habitat.

 Group A4: The (Sycamore) tree is large and partially overhangs the club house. Although 
the tree is in good condition, it has two major branch joints with areas of included bark 
which could weaken these joints. The included bark does not appear very advanced but 
further advice on future options from a tree surgeon is recommended. It may be possible to 
cut back the overhanging branches to reduce the loading on the limbs that have these 
potentially weak joints, rather than fell the tree.

 Group A8: Two Ash trees at the south eastern end have significant injuries caused by 
barbed wire embedded in the stems. They are unlikely to recover from these injuries and 
are already declining. There are two Sycamore trees which are located close to the turn in 



the road. One has a joint with included bark at approximately 1.5 metres, which may cause 
the tree to fail. The smaller tree growing very close (it may actually be the same tree 
underground) would be a poor single specimen if left because of its unbalanced crown. 
The large Willow tree is located in close proximity to the aforementioned Sycamore trees 
and displays significant cavities and areas of rot and is unlikely to recover. An Alder tree 
growing on the bank towards the factory is leaning out over the water and has two large 
areas of rot. A twinned stem has recently been removed from its base.

In considering applications for works to protected trees, Government advice in paragraph 90 of 
the NPPG states:

“When considering an application the authority is advised to:

 assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of the proposal 
on the amenity of the area;

 consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is justified, 
having regard to the reasons and additional information put forward in support of it;

 consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused or granted 
subject to conditions;

 consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species;

 consider other material considerations, including development plan policies where 
relevant; and

 ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision.”

The trees to which the application relates are all located in a wooded area off Trows Lane. The 
Council’s Green Infrastructure Development Officer has been consulted on the application and 
met with the applicant on site to discuss the proposal prior to submission. 

The Green Infrastructure Development Officer has not objected to the proposal to remove the 
eleven trees currently protected by TPO 042. Each of the removals is justified and in line with 
their findings at the site visit that was previously undertaken (see above paragraphs). 
However, they would want to see at least 22 replacement trees replanted within the area and 
a condition to this effect has been attached to the recommendation. 

With regards to protected species, standing advice relating to the legal protection afforded to 
bats and birds is produced by GMEU in respect of tree works applications to advise applicants 
of their responsibilities under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 and the Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) when planning to undertake tree work that is not as part of a 
project requiring planning permission.  

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/tree-preservation-orders-general/#paragraph_008
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/compensating-for-loss-or-damage/#paragraph_112


RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to standard conditions and the following additional condition:-

5.  Within the first planting season following the felling of the eleven trees as indicated in black 
on the plan submitted alongside the application hereby approved, twenty two (22) 
replacement trees shall be planted within the wooded area identified as Groups A1, A2, A3, 
A4, A5, A6, A7 or A8 of Tree Preservation Order 042. Details of the size, siting and species 
of the replacement trees shall be first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before planting. If any of the replacement trees are removed, die, 
become severely damaged or seriously diseased within three years of planting, they shall 
be replaced by a tree of similar size and species.

Reason: In order to protect the visual amenity of the area.

Report Author Keerpa Patel

_________________________________________



Application Number: 15/01219/HOUS    Ward: Bamford      

Proposal: Alteration of the current garden level to match the level of a large proportion 
of the existing garden together with a new retaining wall and new 2.2m high fence with 
additional 0.3m trellis to rear of garden - part retrospective (Resubmission of 
15/00420/HOUS)

Site Address: 9 Rossmere Avenue Rochdale OL11 4BT  

Applicant: Mr Anjum Ahmed
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

The application has been called up for determination by the Rochdale Township planning Sub 
Committee by Councillor Ian Duckworth on the grounds that the application is retrospective. 
The Committee has delegated authority to approve or refuse the application.

SITE

The application relates to a two storey detached dwelling located within the Defined Urban 
Area. The property stands at the end of the cul-de-sac and is set back 8.5m from the road on 
land sloping downwards towards the east. To the rear is a private rear garden the subject of 
this application, which extends 7.7m to the boundary with 35 and 37 Brooklands Court, which 
stand at a lower level than the application property. 



The boundaries of the site are comprised of fencing of around 2m in height to the sides and 
rear, whilst the frontage is open, reflecting the general character of the area. The house has 
been subject to a recent two-storey rear extension under planning permission reference 
14/01358/HOUS, during the construction of which the rear garden levels were altered as a 
result of engineering operations.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks part-retrospective planning permission to regularise the existing 
alterations to the rear garden and to erect a 2.5m high fence to the rear boundary.  The 
alterations to the gardens levels result in a reduction in the garden levels adjacent to the 
extension, whilst part of the garden has subsequently been raised to provide a more level and 
thus usable garden area.In the interests of clarity, the measurements included below refer to 
section 3 as shown on the submitted plans. 

Prior to the construction of the two-storey rear extension, the garden area nearest the house 
stood at a level 0.15m below that of the ground finished floor level (GFFL) of the property, 
reducing with a light slope to 0.3m below GFFL at a distance of 4.2m from the rear elevation. 
The garden level then dropped steeply at an angle of approximately 50 degrees to 1.78m 
below GFFL along a distance of 1.2m. The garden then levelled to a gentle slope to the 
boundary with 35 Brooklands Court at a height of 2.1m below GFFL, a distance of 7.8m from 
the rear elevation of the house.

The application seeks to regularise the changes to the garden levels which have resulted in 
the garden area nearest the house standing at 0.9m below GFFL, reducing with a slight slope 
to 1m below GFFL at a distance of 6.5m from the rear elevation. The garden level then drops 
at an angle of 90 degrees to 1.7m below GFFL due to a retaining wall where it continues to the 
boundary with 35 Brooklands Court. The only change from the previous refusal for 
retrospective permission (15/00420/HOUS) is the inclusion of a solid timber post panel fence 
on the lowest section of garden, 0.3m from the boundary with the neighbouring property, to a 
height of 2.2m with a further 0.3m section of trellis above this.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/1              Defined Urban Area

G/H/1              Housing
H/11                Residential Extensions



G/BE/1            Design Quality
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/7 Tree Preservation Orders
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): Supplementary Planning Guidance note 
‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development’.

PUBLICITY

Earliest Decision Date: 27 November 2015
Revised Expiry Date:  No extension agreed  

Site Notice: n/a
Press Advert: n/a

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

14/01358/HOUS Two storey rear extension including demolition of existing conservatory 
– Granted STC

15/00420/HOUS Alteration of the current garden level to match the level of a large 
proportion of the existing garden together with a new retaining wall to 
rear of the garden – part retrospective – Refused for the following 
reason:

The proposal would allow opportunities for overlooking of the rear 
garden of neighbouring properties in close proximity to the rear 
boundary at elevated height to the detrimental of the privacy and 
amenity of the occupants.  The proposal is therefore contrary to criterion 
c) of Policy H/11 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, the 
Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines 
and Standards for Residential Development’ and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering –  No highway objections in relation to this proposal. 

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours and letters of objection have been 
received from the owner/occupier of 35 Brooklands Court which are summarised below, along 
with officer’s responses:

 The submission is no longer partly retrospective it is fully retrospective, the scheme 
having since been completed.

Officer’s Response: The works to the garden levels and construction of the retaining wall 
have been completed at present. The submission is considered part-retrospective as the 
applicant proposes to construct a fence along the boundary with 35 and 37 Brooklands to 
mitigate the potential impact on privacy in the refusal of the previous application.



 The retaining wall adjacent to the common rear boundary fence has been constructed 
to an elevated height which is 270mm higher than the proposed level stated on the 
drawings thus raising the level of the garden by the same amount. Further, another 
course of blockwork has been started at the north end of the retaining wall which has 
the potential of increasing the height by a further 102mm or even higher in secret out of 
view of observers behind the shelter of a proposed high level fence. 

Officer’s Response: A full levels survey was carried out by the applicant’s agent in the 
preparation of the application and the officer is assured that these measurements are 
accurate. A site visit was undertaken on 13th November 2015 by the case officer and at 
this time no additional course of blockwork was being added to the retaining wall with the 
exception of a single excess block which the objector may be referring to. The applicant 
has not indicated that the retaining wall or garden would be raised above the levels applied 
for and the application must be determined on the basis of the plans submitted.

 The new patio which fronts the rear of the dwelling has also been constructed to an 
elevated height which is 450mm higher at the north end of the dwelling and 370mm 
higher at the south end of the dwelling than the propose levels stated on the drawings.

Officer’s Response: The patio area to the north of the end of the dwelling remains at the 
original height before the construction of the extension and the engineering works to alter 
the garden levels took place, and does not form part of the development for which 
permission is required. The patio area to the south of the end of the dwelling again 
remains at the original height as before construction took place. A section of the patio was 
removed across the rear of the house to increase the garden space area and a set of 
steps have been installed to create access down to the garden level. 

 An extensive high level platform has been constructed at the north end of the rear 
garden which abuts the common rear boundary fence and joins up with the new patio 
at the same elevated height. The platform is not shown on any of the drawings and has 
not been mentioned by the applicant but this too has not received planning permission. 
The platform is 1.4m above the original ground level and is 570mm higher than the 
proposed garden level and is only 430mm below the top of the rear boundary fence.

Officer’s Response: It is assumed that the objector is referring to an area of decking at the 
north end of the rear garden. Again, this does not form part of the current application. 
Clarification is requested from the applicant as to the length of time this decked area has 
been present.  

 The proposed inclusion of an additional fence 2.2m high with a 0.3m high trellis on top 
(giving an overall height of 2.5m) is approximately 500mm higher than the top of the 
existing boundary fence. As demonstrated, the garden levels have already been raised 
by as much as 450mm above the proposed levels shown on the drawings. Any extra 
privacy that might have been gained by erecting an additional fence has therefore 
been negated by the further unauthorised raising of the garden levels, even with the 
inclusion of a 300mm high trellis, which can be easily seen through anyway.

Officer’s Response: The proposed fence is considered adequate to prevent the provision 
of un-restricted views from the majority of the garden levels as constructed, into the rear 
gardens of the neighbouring properties, as evidenced by the submitted plans which detail 
a number of existing and potential sight lines and by a site visit undertaken by the case 
officer. 

 The photographs attached to the letter of objection show observers standing on the 
current elevated level of the rear garden in close proximity to the existing rear 



boundary fence. As can be seen the observers tower above the hedge, which is 
between 3.2 and 3.7m high. 

Officer’s Response: The photographs appear to show people standing on the area of 
decking at the north end of the garden which is elevated above the garden level. The 
decking does not form part of this application.   

 The top of the hedge is actually well below the height of an observer and the 
illustrations on the drawing show the top of the proposed fence being below the top of 
the hedge (which it would be), but it should have been shown much lower than that 
presently shown on the drawing, but because of a medley of inaccuracies and 
misrepresentations it hasn’t been depicted as such.

Officer’s Response: On a site visit undertaken on 13th November 2015, the hedge stood at 
a height which screened the view of the case officer (at a height of 6ft 2in) into the rear 
garden of 35 Brooklands Court, as is demonstrated in the below photograph taken at eye 
level. The submitted drawings are considered to accurately represent the proposed 
screening as they show a fence to a height of 2.5m above ground level. The objector 
states earlier in his letter that the hedge is between 3.2 and 3.7m in height, it is therefore 
considered that the illustrative representation of the vegetative boundary shown on the 
plans is correct. 

 One particular misrepresentation, which is also stated in the Planning Application, is 
the height of the proposed fence. It is not 2.2m high plus a 0.3m high trellis on top (as 
described). It is at least 2.6m high plus a 0.3m high trellis on top (i.e. 2.9m overall 
height and could be 3.2m high and potentially higher than that. This is because the 
base of the proposed fence is shown as starting 0.4m above the original ground level. 
This is because the height of the fence has been taken from the top of some loose 
rocks and rubble which the applicant has dumped in the space between the new 
retaining wall and the existing fence. The height of the debris is at least 400mm (as 
stated on the drawing) and in places it easily exceeds this height (as can be seen on 
site). 

Officer’s Response: The objector is correct that the raised space between the retaining 
wall and the existing fence currently comprises loosely placed rocks. The submitted 
drawings have correctly shown the proposed fence to a total height of 2.5m above this 
established ground level. The fence would therefore be constructed to an indicative height 
of 2.9m above the garden level of 35 Brooklands Court.  

 The debris is in direct contact with my fence putting undue pressure on the fence. This 
is unacceptable for obvious reasons.

Officer’s Response: Any damage caused to private property by the existing situation would 
be a private matter between the objector and the applicant.  

 The objector states that the overall height of the fence would reach 3.2m minimum in 
places due to the sloping nature of the site.

Officer’s Response: The fence would be constructed to a height of 2.5m above the ground 
level at the point of installation and as such would account for the identified slope running 
north-south across the site.  

 To avoid any misunderstanding about the intentions of the applicant in respect of the 
proposed fence he should be asked to show the levels at the top of the proposed fence 
and the levels at the top of the existing rear boundary fence at both ends (north and 



south) of both fences and indicate the points at which there is any change in level (i.e. 
where there is a step in the fence).

Officer’s Response: A condition would be included on the decision notice, should the 
committee be minded to approve the application, for the submission of full and final details 
of the fencing prior to first use of the garden area.

Two letters of support have also been received from 7 Rossmere Avenue and 37 Brooklands 
Court which read:

 ‘I would like to support this application as it creates a similar aspect between my 
property and the properties of Brooklands Court that back onto Rossmere Avenue. The 
garden level between my property and no. 9 are similar in the proposed application. 
The levels of privacy are the same as that between my property and Brooklands 
Court.’

 ‘I support this application as it increases the privacy between my property on 
Brooklands Court and Rossmere Avenue, as the main garden level proposed is much 
lower, though a little higher near my boundary. The landscaping is also much neater 
and visually more pleasing. The garden levels and retaining walls between my property 
and the two properties of Rossmere Avenue (no. 7 and no. 9, the applicant), that back 
onto my rear garden will become similar. I hope Mr Ahmed’s application is successful.’

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development

The application site is allocated as Defined Urban Area under the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan. Policy G/D/1 is therefore relevant to any applications on the site and in the 
supporting text to this policy it is established that new development should be located in the 
urban area, so as to support urban regeneration and to protect the countryside. 

With the above policy in mind, it is considered that subject to the appropriate assessment of 
matters such as amenity, highway safety and the environment, the principle of alterations to 
an existing residential garden on site is acceptable.

Impact upon Visual Amenity

Policies H/11, G/BE/1 and BE/2 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan require residential 
development and extensions to dwellings to be compatible with their surroundings in terms of 
scale, height, massing, layout, materials and architectural style in order to contribute to the 
provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built environment. 

In addition to the above, paragraphs 56 and 58 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
state that the Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment 
and that good design should contribute positively to making places better for people and 
should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping.

The use of a low level retaining wall is considered acceptable within a rear garden setting and 
it is noted that similar structures have been constructed in neighbouring gardens. The 
engineering works have created a space suitable for the development of a lawn garden, as 
opposed to the previous steeply sloped embankment which allowed only for the growth of a 
number of ground-covering small bushes and the application is therefore considered not to 
result in a detrimental impact to the visual appearance of the garden space. 

Therefore, and in summary of the above, the application is considered to accord with policy 
H/11 and policy BE/2 of the Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan, conforms to the 



expectations of the National Planning Policy Framework and is acceptable with regard to the 
impact upon visual amenity. 

Impact upon Residential Amenity

Protection of residential amenity is considered under policy H/11 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan, which requires that extensions should not unduly affect the privacy and 
amenity of adjoining residents through overlooking, overshadowing, loss of outlook or daylight. 

Paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework containing the 12 ‘core planning 
principles’ advises that planning should always seek to secure a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Further to the above are the 
considerations of the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development’.

It is acknowledged that the changes to the rear garden levels serve to decrease the height of 
the land immediately adjacent to the rear elevation of the house, in the area that is furthest 
away from the rear boundary. The increase in height of 0.78m closer to the rear boundary is 
where the greatest potential exists for the overlooking of the private gardens of the adjacent 
occupiers. However, it is noted that the area which now lies at a higher land level than 
previously, constitutes a projection of only 2.2m beyond the previous plateaued area. 
It is accepted that, at present, views from the resulting garden levels into the garden of 35 and 
37 Brooklands Court are prevented by the hedge present in the garden of that property. The 
previously refused application, 15/00420/HOUS, proposed a 1m high fence positioned above 
the retaining wall, which was not considered sufficient to prevent overlooking into the rear 
gardens of the neighbours to the rear should the existing vegetative screening at 35 and 37 
Brooklands be removed. As such, the current application includes a proposal for the erection 
of a fence to a total height of 2.5m along the rear boundary, comprising a timber post panel 
fence to a height of 2.2m and a 0.3m trellis above this to provide additional screening. 
Therefore, and as demonstrated on the submitted plans, the fencing, in combination with the 
existing vegetative screening within the garden of 35 and 37 Brooklands, would prevent views 
from the rear garden of the application property into the rear gardens and ground floor 
elevation of the neighbouring properties. Whilst the fence would be greater in height when 
viewed from the garden of No’s 35 and 37 Brooklands Court as noted above, it is considered 
that the fence would not be unduly overbearing given it would be set off the common boundary 
and given the presence of the screening within the adjoining gardens. 

It is acknowledged that due to the sloping level of the land running from north to south in the 
garden, the fence would stand at a reduced height relative to the plateau of the garden area. 
However, the majority of the garden space at 35 Brooklands would still be screened from view 
and it is noted that this represents a proportionally small area at the southernmost extent of 
the site where views are already provided at this location by the previously existing patio area.

The marginally raised 1.2m section nearest to the boundary with the neighbouring properties 
at the rear would not constitute usable amenity space, with it having been filled in with loose 
placed rocks and it being the site for the erection of the privacy screening, and as such it is 
considered that the increase in height of this area of the garden would not give rise to an 
impact on the amenity of neighbours.

Therefore, and in summary of the above, the application is considered to accord with policy 
H/11 of the Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan, the requirements of the Council’s 
SPG note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development’ and conforms to the 
expectations of the National Planning Policy Framework and is acceptable with regard to the 
potential impact upon residential amenity of occupiers and adjoining neighbours. 



Impact on Protected Trees

Policy NE/7 of the UDP states that where it is necessary to protect important trees and 
woodlands which contribute to the quality of the built or rural environment, the Council will 
make Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs). No work of any nature should be carried out which 
could possibly affect the health of a tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without 
the proper written authority of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees 
or other works which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any 
works carried out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice.

UDP Policy NE/8 states that development proposals will be permitted that do not adversely 
affect trees, woodland or hedgerows. Proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands 
should ensure:

a. Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

b. That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

c. Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
d. The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 

safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species e.g., bat 
roosts, and the value of ground flora e.g. bluebells;

e. Hedgerows which meet the criteria set out in the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 and 
other hedgerows which are locally distinctive and valuable for their natural or historic 
value are fully safeguarded;

f. The requirement of the Forestry Commission for a felling licence to be obtained is met 
where appropriate;

g. Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 
(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and

h. Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

Concerns have been raised previously regarding the loss of vegetation and mature trees on 
site; however, matters including the suggested felling of protected trees are a separate matter 
to the determination of the submitted application. The alignment of the retaining wall and the 
proposed timber fence screen across the rear boundary is in a location away from 
neighbouring protected trees and as such, the scheme as proposed does not impact on the 
nearby Tree Preservation Order trees.

Summary

In summary, it is considered that the inclusion of the proposed fencing to be located close to 
the existing boundary fence with 35 and 37 Brooklands Court addresses the previous reason 
for refusal of application 15/00420/HOUS and would serve to mitigate the potential for 
overlooking of the rear gardens and elevations of the neighbouring properties, in the event that 
the hedge were to be removed in the future.  The fence itself would also have no undue 
impact on the amenity of the occupants of No’s 35 and 37. The visual impact of the 
development is considered acceptable, of a scale appropriate for a residential property and in 
line with similar arrangements at neighbouring properties. As such, the application is 
recommended for approval.



RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to conditions:-

1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2 For the avoidance of doubt, this permission relates to the following drawings:-

- Site Location Plan
- Proposed Block Plan drawing no. 14.1079.7A
- Existing/As Built/Proposed Site Plans drawing no. 14.1079.10C
- Existing/As Built/Proposed Sections and Details drawing no. 14.1079.11C
- Proposed Sections and Details drawing no. 14.1079.12

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3 Notwithstanding the details on the approved plans, full details of the fence and trellis to 
be installed, including but not limited to its materials and colour, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The duly approved fence and 
trellis shall be installed in accordance with the approved details within six months of the 
date of this permission and shall be thereafter retained in perpetuity.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of the privacy of the occupiers 
of neighbouring residential properties in accordance with Policy H/11 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with 
Policy BE/2 of the Council's Unitary Development Plan.

Report Author David Allen

____________________________________________________


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Submitted Planning Applications

